UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Santa Barbara

School Psychology Around the Globe: Examining Relationships with Economical, Cultural, Educational, and Professional Variables

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Counseling, Clinical, and School Psychology

by

Jacqueline A. Brown, M. A.

Committee in charge:

Shane R. Jimerson, Ph.D. (Chair)

Erin Dowdy, Ph.D.

Matthew P. Quirk, Ph.D.

September 2014

The dissertation of Jacqueline A. Brown is approved.
Erin Dowdy, Ph.D.
Matthew P. Quirk, Ph.D.
Shane R. Jimerson, Ph.D., Committee Chair

June 2013

School Psychology Around the Globe: Examining Relationships with Economical, Cultural, Educational, and Professional Variables

Copyright © 2013

Ву

Jacqueline A. Brown

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my Research Supervisor, Dr. Shane Jimerson, for all of his support, expertise, and reinforcement. I am constantly amazed at your ability to establish and maintain strong connections with experts in school psychology around the world, without which this study would not have been possible. This strength, along with your dedication to academia and research, serves as an inspiration for my future career goals. I would also like to thank Dr. Matt Quirk and Dr. Erin Dowdy for serving as members of my committee. Thank you for all your feedback and suggestions and for helping me think at a more in-depth level about my dissertation. I am particularly grateful for your statistical expertise (Matt) and reminding me to constantly think about the real world applicability of my work (Erin). I am also grateful to Dr. Thomas Oakland for taking the time to review my dissertation and impart his expert advice, and Dr. Clay Cook for providing me with the data and information on the child autonomy composite utilized in this study. Furthermore, many thanks to the current and past members of Shane's lab who recruited participants and collected data for this project and whose reinforcement and feedback helped make my research even more enjoyable. Of course I could also not forget to thank all the professionals in the field of school psychology who took the time to thoughtfully complete the School Psychology International Survey and provide us with valuable information on your country. Many thanks to my family and friends for all of your encouragement, love, and support. Your

love constantly reminds me of what is truly important in this world. Last but not least, I would like to thank those close to me who have died and are no longer with me in person, but who will always hold a special place in my heart and continue to be my inspiration.

Jacqueline A. Brown

Curriculum Vitae

Education	
Ph.D.	University of California, Santa Barbara, California. Counseling, Clinical, and School Psychology (Emphasis in School Psychology) Anticipated Graduation: 2014
	Dissertation Title: "School Psychology around the Globe: Examining Associations with Economical, Cultural, Educational, and Professional Variables" Supervisor: Dr. Shane R. Jimerson
M.A.	University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia. School Psychology November 2010
	Master's Thesis Title: "Exploring How Level of Training, Inclusion, and Problem Behavior Affect Student-Teacher Relationships for Students with Autism Spectrum Disorders" Supervisor: Dr. Kent McIntosh
B.A.	Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia. Psychology, First Class Honors (with thesis) May 2007
	Honors Thesis Title: "Effects of Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention on Affect, Engagement, and Disruptive Behavior in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders" Supervisor: Dr. Isabel Smith

Awards and Scholarships

SCHOLARSHIPS/FELLOWSHIPS Name	Value	Year
Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council Doctoral Fellowship (\$20,000 per year) Federal fellowship from the Canadian Government awarded to the most promising Canadian doctoral student researchers	\$60,000	2011- 2013
Block Grant Fellowship (University of California, Santa Barbara) University support for tuition	\$4,000	2013

Block Grant Fellowship (University of California, Santa Barbara) <i>University support for tuition</i>	\$15,000	2011- 2012
Block Grant Fellowship (University of California, Santa Barbara) <i>University support for tuition</i>	\$9,470	2010- 2011
Dean of Education Scholarship (University of British Columbia) University support for tuition	\$1,000	2009- 2010
University of British Columbia Graduate Student Research Grant Research funding for Master's thesis	\$922	2009- 2010
Joseph-Armand Bombardier Canada Graduate Master's Scholarship Federal scholarship from the Canadian Government awarded to the most promising Canadian Master's student researchers.	\$17,500	2008- 2009
IWK Summer Studentship (IWK Health Centre, Halifax, Nova Scotia) Research Assistant Scholarship from the IWK Health Centre	\$3, 188	2006

Fieldwork Experience

Zear Tear	Location and Description
-----------	---------------------------------

Doctoral Degree:

2013-2014 (August-July) Pre-doctoral Psychology Intern

Boys Town, Nebraska Internship Consortium of Professional Psychology (APA Accredited Internship)

Internship)

Omaha, Nebraska 40 hours per week

Supervisors: Dr. Connie Schnoes, PhD.

Responsibilities: Provide individual, group, and family therapy to children and teens; consult with teachers and other professionals; conduct assessments with children and teens; conduct applied research. Services to be provided to children and teens with a broad range of clinical, social, and emotional

difficulties.

2011-2013 (September-June) Hospice of Santa Barbara Intern

Hospice of Santa Barbara (Non-Profit

Organization),

Santa Barbara, California

10 hours per week

Supervisors: Dr. Shane Jimerson, PhD, NCSP, Dr. Erin Dowdy, PhD (UCSB), and Michael Cruse, LCSW (Hospice of Santa Barbara)

Responsibilities: Provided individual and group bereavement psychotherapy to children and teens; developed and implemented treatment plans; wrote case notes; consulted with school counselors, marriage and family therapists, and clinical social workers; supported children and families in bereavement groups; conducted research linking science to practice.

2012 (January-June)

School Psychology Intern Isla Vista Elementary School, Isla Vista, California 2 hours per week

Supervisors: Dr. Shane Jimerson, PhD, NCSP, Dr. Erin Dowdy, PhD (UCSB), and Kellie Butkiewicz, M.A., PPS (Isla Vista Elementary School)

Responsibilities: Conducted comprehensive psychoeducational assessments and consulted with teachers. Services provided to school-aged children diagnosed with Learning Disorders.

2010-2011 (September-June)

Positive Behavior Support Specialist Harding University Partnership School, Santa Barbara, California

15 hours per week

Supervisors: Dr. Shane Jimerson, PhD, NCSP, Dr. Erin Dowdy, PhD (UCSB), and Rory Diaz, M.A., PPS (Harding University Partnership School)

Responsibilities: Provided group and individual psychotherapy to school-age children using evidence-based treatments (e.g., CBT and Solution-Focused Therapy); implemented and evaluated an evidence-based class-wide violence prevention program (Second Step); conducted class-wide and individual behavioral screening/assessment; developed and implemented treatment and behavior plans; wrote case notes; consulted with and provided psychoeducation to teachers and parents. Services provided to general and special education students with behavioral, social, and emotional difficulties.

2011 (January-June)

Student Clinician
Hosford Counseling and Psychological Services
Clinic, UCSB, Santa Barbara, California
7 hours per week

Supervisor: Dr. Heidi Zetzer, PhD, Licensed Psychologist.

Responsibilities: Conducted intakes and individual psychotherapy sessions with undergraduate pseudoclients; developed and implemented treatment plans; wrote case notes; attended monthly clinic meetings. Services provided to undergraduate students experiencing a range of life adjustment difficulties.

Master's Degree:

2009-2010 (September-June)

School Psychology Intern, Master's 1200 hour internship

Delta School District, Delta, British Columbia

- -Provincial Outreach Program for Autism and Related Disorders
- 32 hours per week
- -Devon Gardens Elementary School, 8 hours per week

Supervisor: Dr. Ted Wormeli, EdD, Registered Psychologist, NCSP.

Responsibilities: Conducted comprehensive psychoeducational assessments, including a DSM-IV diagnosis; designed and implemented social-skills interventions; consulted with and provided psychoeducation to teachers, parents, and other school-based staff (e.g., speech-language pathologists & school counselors); assisted in writing Individualized Education Plans (IEPs); attended school-based team meetings. Services provided to school-age children and adolescents diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorders and a range of other clinical and learning disorders.

2008-2009 (September-June)

Second Year School Psychology Practicum Student St. Andrew's Elementary School, Vancouver, BC Psychoeducational Research and Training Clinic, UBC, Vancouver, British Columbia 16 hours per week Supervisors: Dr. Kent McIntosh, PhD (September-January),

Dr. Laurie Ford, PhD (January-June)

Responsibilities: Conducted a school-wide reading screening (using DIBELS); provided training to school-staff on data-based decision making; consulted with teachers and parents; conducted individual and class-wide behavior assessments and implemented relevant interventions using Response to Intervention (RTI); conducted comprehensive psychoeducational assessments. Services provided to school-age and adolescents diagnosed with Learning Disorders and Down Syndrome.

2008 (May-July)

First Year School Psychology Practicum Student
Psychoeducational Research and Training Clinic,
UBC, Vancouver, British Columbia
5 hours per week

Supervisor: Dr. Laurie Ford, PhD.

Responsibilities: Conducted a comprehensive psychoeducational assessment with an eight-year-old boy diagnosed with a Learning Disorder and behavioral difficulties; conducted observations; consulted with parents and teachers.

2007-2008 (September-April)

First Year School Psychology Practicum Student Captain James Cook Elementary School, Vancouver, British Columbia 3 hours per week

Supervisors: Dr. William McKee, PhD (September-December), Dr. Kent McIntosh, PhD (January-April)

Responsibilities: Assisted school-age children for whom English was a Second Language; attended school-based team meetings; conducted observations; consulted with teachers; conducted individual and class-wide curriculum-based assessments; designed and implemented curriculum-based interventions. Services provided to sixth-grade, third-grade, and kindergarten students in general education classrooms.

Research Experience

Year

Location and Description

2012-2013 (March-June)

Doctoral Dissertation University of California, Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, California

5 hours per week

Dissertation Chair: Dr. Shane Jimerson, PhD, NCSP. Dissertation Title: Presence, Preparation, and Practice of School Psychology around the Globe: Examining Associations with Economical, Cultural, Educational, and Professional Variables

Responsibilities: Involved in project design; determined key variables; collected data from relevant sources; inputted and analyzed data.

2010-2013 (September-June)

Graduate Student Researcher University of California at Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, California 2 hours per week

Supervisors: Dr. Shane Jimerson, PhD, NCSP, and Dr. Erin Dowdy, PhD.

Responsibilities: Assisting in the ongoing development and evaluation of the International PREPaRE school crisis prevention and intervention curriculum; assisting in conducting a meta-analyses of grade retention studies in the United States; conducted school-based behavioral screening using the Behavioral and Emotional Screening System at two high schools in the Los Angeles Unified School District; implemented a violence prevention program (Second Step) in an elementary school and then collected and analyzed pre- and post-intervention data.

2009-2010 (January-July)

Master's Thesis University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia 3-5 hours per week

Master's Thesis Chair: Dr. Kent McIntosh, PhD. Master's Thesis Title: Exploring How Level of Training, Inclusion, and Problem Behavior Affect Student-Teacher Relationships for Students with

Autism Spectrum Disorders

Responsibilities: Obtained ethical approval to conduct research from university and school districts; involved in project design; determined key variables; collected, inputted, and analyzed data; collaborated with teachers and paraprofessionals.

2008 to 2009 (September-April)

Graduate Research Assistant
Department of Educational and Counseling Psychology, and Special Education, UBC, Vancouver,
British Columbia

3-5 hours per week

Lab: School-University Partnerships to Promote Optimal Research and Teaching lab Supervisor: Dr. Kent McIntosh, PhD. Responsibilities: Aided in writing grant proposals; conducted literature searches; wrote sections of manuscripts.

2007 to 2009 (September-July)

Graduate Research Assistant
Department of Educational and Counseling
Psychology, and Special Education, UBC,
Vancouver, British Columbia
8-10 hours per week

Lab: Autism & Developmental Disabilities Lab

Supervisor: Dr. Pat Mirenda, PhD.

Responsibilities: Coded questionnaires, test protocols,

and videos; trained new research assistants.

2007 (May-June)

Research Assistant
Institute of Child Health, University College London,
London, UK
25 hours per week

Lab: Behavioral Brain and Sciences Unit (Autism) Supervisors: Drs. Jessica and Peter Hobson, PhD. Responsibilities: Engaged in reliability coding; wrote clinical descriptions from videos; observed behavioral interactions of pre-school age children in school and clinical settings.

Teaching Experience

Year Location and Description

2012 (September-December)

Teaching Assistant

Course: Positive Psychology, Undergraduate Class University of Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara,

California

9 hours per week

Professor: Dr. Michael Furlong, PhD.

Responsibilities: Assisted in designing the course syllabus and planning lectures/activities; helped create exams and assignments; graded student assignments; taught portions of the course; answered student questions through office

hours and email.

2012 (June-July) Teaching Assistant

Course: Identity and Pluralism, Undergraduate Class

University of Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara,

California

12 hours per week

Professor: Dr. Melissa Morgan Consoli, PhD.

Responsibilities: Assisted in planning weekly lectures; graded student assignments; taught one lecture; answered student questions through office hours and email.

Scholarly and Professional Activities

PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL ARTICLES

- **Brown, J. A.,** & McIntosh, K. (2012). Training, inclusion, and behavior: Effect on student-teacher and student-SEA relationships for students with autism spectrum disorders. *Exceptionality Education International, 22,* 77-88. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/eei
- **Brown, J. A.,** Jimerson, S. R., Dowdy, E., Gonzalez, V., & Stewart, K. (2012). Assessing the effects of school-wide Second Step implementation in a predominately English Language Learner, low SES, Latino/a sample. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49, 864-875. doi: 10.1002/pits.21639
- Stifel, S. W. F., **Brown, J. A.**, Jimerson, S. R., & Dowdy, E. (2012). Integrating email communication with counseling at school: Ethical and legal considerations for school psychologists. *School Mental Health*, *5*, 110-118. doi: 10.1007/s12310-012-9086-9

- McIntosh, K., MacKay, L. D., Andreou, T., Brown, J. A., Mathews, S., Poirier, C., & Bennett, J. (2011). Response to intervention in Canada: Definitions, implications, and future directions. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 26, 18-43. doi: 10.1177/0829573511400857
- McIntosh, K., Sadler, C., & Brown, J. A. (2011). Kindergarten reading skill level and change as risk factors for chronic problem behavior. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 14, 17-28. doi: 10.1177/1098300711403153
- McIntosh, K., **Brown, J. A.**, Borgmeier, C. J. (2008). Validity of functional behavior assessment within a response to intervention framework: Evidence, recommended practice, and future directions. *Assessment for Effective Intervention*, 34, 6-14. doi:10.1177/1534508408314096

MANUSCRIPTS UNDER REVIEW

Rime, W. J., Jimerson, S. R., Dowdy, E., **Brown, J. A.**, & Chin, J. (under review). Teacher perceptions of the Second Step curriculum: Student understanding and engagement, conceptual importance, and relevance. *The Contemporary School Psychologist*.

BOOK CHAPTERS

- Watanabe, Y., & **Brown, J. A.** Preventative education in Canada (2013). In K. Yamazaki, Y. Toda, & Y. Watanabe (Eds.), *School-Based Preventive Education in the World* (pp. 82-89). Japan: Kaneko-Shobo.
- Jimerson, S. R., Brock, S. E., & **Brown, J. A.** (2013). Immediate school-based intervention following violent crises. In C. Franklin, Harris, M. B., & P. Allen-Meares (Eds.), *The School Services Sourcebook (2nd ed*, pp. 579-589.). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Jimerson, S. R., **Brown, J. A.**, Saeki, E., & Watanabe, Y., Kobayashi, T., & Hatzichristou, C. (2012). Natural disasters. In S. E. Brock & S. R. Jimerson (Eds.), *Best Practices in School Crisis Prevention and Intervention (2nd ed.*, pp. 573-595). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Jimerson, S. R., Brown, J. A., & Stewart, K. (2012). Sudden and unexpected death. In S. E. Brock & S. R. Jimerson (Eds.), Best Practices in School Crisis Prevention and Intervention (2nd ed., pp. 469-483). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Jimerson, S. R., & **Brown, J. A.** (2012). Grade Retention: A strategy failing to support student achievement and adjustment. In J. A. C. Hattie & E. M. Anderman (Eds.), *The International Handbook of Student Achievement* (pp. 469-483). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Jimerson, S. R., Brown, J. A., Stifel, S. & Ruderman, M. A. (2012). World report on violence and health: International insights. In S. R. Jimerson, A. B. Nickerson, M. J. Mayer, & M. J. Furlong (Eds.), *The Handbook of School Violence and School Safety: International Research and Practice (2nd ed.*, pp. 215-224). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Jimerson, S. R., Haddock, A., & **Brown, J. A.** (2012). Beyond grade retention and social promotion: Towards supporting students with learning and behavioral disabilities. In B. G., Cook, M. Tankersley, T. J. Landrum, A. C. Hattie, & E. M. Anderman (Eds.), *Advances in Learning and Behavioral Disabilities*, *Volume 25* (pp.167-190). Bingley, UK: Emerald Publishing.
- Osher, D., Dwyer, K. P., Jimerson, S. R., & **Brown, J. A.** (2012). Developing safe, supportive, and effective schools: Facilitating student success to reduce school violence. In S. R. Jimerson, A. B. Nickerson, M. J. Mayer, & M. J. Furlong (Eds.), *The Handbook of School Violence and School Safety: International Research and Practice (2nd ed.*, pp. 27-44). *New York, NY: Routledge.*

PEER-REVIEWED CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

- **Brown, J. A.**, Jimerson, S. R., & Oakland, T. (2013, February). International school psychology: Training and practices around the globe. Poster presented at the 2013 Annual Convention of the National Association of School Psychologists, Seattle, WA.
- **Brown, J. A.**, & Jimerson, S. R. (2013, February). Preparing for and responding to sudden and unexpected student death. In V. Comerchero (chair), *Review and discussion of tools to assist grieving students*. Symposium to be conducted at the 2013 Annual Convention of the National Association of School Psychologists, Seattle, WA.
- Jimerson, S. R., **Brown, J. A.**, & Shahroozi, S. R. (2012, October). International PREPaRE: School crisis prevention and intervention curriculum: Highlights and updates. Paper presented at the 2012 Annual Convention of the California Association of School Psychologists, Costa Mesa, CA.
- **Brown, J. A.**, Jimerson, S. R., Oakland, T. D., & Shahroozi, R. (2012, August). International perspectives: School psychology around the globe. Poster presented at the 2012 Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, Orlando, FL.
- Jimerson, S. R., **Brown, J. A.**, & Shahroozi, S. R. (2012, July). International PREPaRE: A global school crisis prevention and preparedness curriculum. Paper presented at the International School Psychology Association Conference. Montreal, Canada.
- Jimerson, S. R., & **Brown**, **J. A.** (2012, July). Sudden and unexpected death: Preparing for and responding to the unpredictable. In V. Comerchero (chair), *Grief and*

- bereavement in educational settings: Intervention strategies for school psychologists. Symposium conducted at the 2012 Annual Convention of the International School Psychology Associatioan. McGill University, Montreal, Canada.
- Jimerson, S. R., **Brown, J. A.**, Shahroozi, S. R., & Watanabe, Y. (2012, March). PREPaRE school crisis prevention and intervention curriculum: International perspectives. Paper presented at the 2012 Annual Convention of the California Association of School Psychologists, Costa Mesa, CA.
- **Brown, J. A.**, Rime, W. R., Gonzalez, V., Stewart, K., Chin, J., Jimerson, S. R., & Dowdy, E. (2012, February). Effects of Second Step on student behavior and teacher perceptions. Paper presented at the 2012 Annual Convention of the National Association of School Psychologists, Philadelphia, PA.
- Jimerson, S. R., **Brown, J. A.**, Saeki, E., & Watanabe, Y. (2012, February). Natural disasters: Preparing for and responding to the unpredictable. Paper presented at the 2012 Annual Convention of the National Association of School Psychologists, Philadelphia, PA.
- **Brown, J. A.**, & McIntosh, K. (2011, August). Exploring factors that affect student-teacher and student-paraprofessional relationships for students with autism spectrum disorders. Poster presented at the 2011 Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, Washington, DC.
- **Brown, J. A.**, & McIntosh, K. (2011, February). Factors that affect student-teacher relationships for students with ASD. Poster presented at the 2011 Annual Convention of the National Association of School Psychologists, San Francisco, CA.
- **Brown, J. A.**, McIntosh, K. (2010, April). Exploring how level of training, inclusion, and problem behavior affect student-teacher relationships for students with autism spectrum disorders. Paper presented at ACT's 6th Annual Focus on BC Research Event.
- **Brown, J. A.**, McIntosh, K., & MacKay, L. D. (2009, August). Building district-level capacity to implement and evaluate school-wide PBS. In K. McIntosh (chair), [Beyond Efficacy: Systems-Level Variables in Adapting and Sustaining School-Wide Positive Behavior Support]. Symposium conducted at the 2009 Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, Toronto, ON.
- **Brown, J. A.**, & McIntosh, K. (2008, June). Building school teams' capacity to prevent and address problem behavior through school-wide positive behavior support. In L. Ford and B. McKee (chairs), [School Psychology Systems Level Change in Action]. Symposium conducted at the 2008 Annual Convention of the Canadian Psychological Association.

UNIVERSITY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICE

Leadership Roles and Affiliations

- ➤ Co-Leader of the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP)
 Grief and Bereavement Interventions and Research Interest Group (2012-present)
- ➤ 2011 and 2012 Student Membership Chair for the Student Affiliates in School Psychology, Division 16, APA
- Student Department Representative for the Canadian Psychological Association, 2008-10
- > First Year Student Representative to the Faculty, University of British Columbia, 2007-08
- American Psychological Association, Division 16, Graduate Student Affiliate, 2008-present
- California Association of School Psychologists, Student Member, 2010-present
- ➤ International School Psychology Association, Student Member, 2011-present
- National Association of School Psychologists, Student Member, 2010-present
- ➤ Canadian Psychological Association, Student Affiliate, 2008-11
- Council for Exceptional Children, Student Member, 2008-11
- ➤ British Columbia Association of School Psychologists, Student Member, 2008-10
- Society for Research in Child Development, Undergraduate Member, 2005-08

Reviewer Roles

- > Student Reviewer of proposals for the 2013 NASP Annual Convention, July '12
- > Student Reviewer of proposals for the 2012 NASP Annual Convention, July '11
- ➤ Student Reviewer for the handbook *Best Practices in Crisis Prevention and Intervention in the Schools, Second Edition*, 2011

SPECIALIZED TRAINING AND CERTIFICATIONS

- Pupil Personnel Services Credential (PPS), School Psychology, Valid from December 2011-January 2017.
- ➤ Trauma Focused Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (TFCBT) Online Training Course, April '13, *10 hours*.
- Attended a workshop on Suicide Prevention Response, December '12, 7 hours
- > PREPaRE Certification in School Crisis Prevention and Preparedness, Workshop
- ➤ 1&2, May 14-16, 2012, 20 hours
- Attended a workshop on Psychological First Aid, October 29, 2010, 4 hours
- > Completed the Nonviolent Crisis Intervention Training Program (CPI), June 21, '10, 8 hours
- > Completed a specialized course on Applied Behavioral Analysis, November, 2009, 30 hours
- Attended a workshop on ADHD by Dr. Sam Goldstein, October 16, 2009, 5 hours
- ➤ Completed a specialized course on Autism Spectrum Disorders, October, 2009, 30 hours
- Coach training in School-Wide Positive Behavior Support, August 24-26, 2009, 20 hours
- Attended a specialized workshop on ADHD by Dr. Russell Barkley, May 6, 2009, 5 hours
- Trained in using the School Evaluation Tool (SET) for School-Wide Positive Behavior Support, Mar. 6, 2009, 6 hours; April 6-7, 2009, 15 hours
- Fluent in French; Understanding of Spanish

ABSTRACT

School Psychology around the Globe: Examining Relationships with Economical, Cultural, Educational, and Professional Variables

by

Jacqueline A. Brown

Despite the fact that the field of school psychology continues to develop rapidly in many regions around the world, little information is available about the training, roles, and responsibilities of school psychologists. The present study provides valuable information by expanding upon previous international school psychology research by investigating key factors that influence the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology. More specifically, the present study examined the effect of gross domestic product (GDP), public spending on education, and public support for education on the ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists. Country differences on child autonomy with respect to the ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists were also investigated. Professionals in the field of school psychology in 47 countries completed the School Psychology International Survey (SPIS), which includes 83 multi-part items that address the nature and status of school psychology in their countries. Data from 43 countries was used due to missing items on multiple variables for four countries. Items from the SPIS were utilized, along with

available data from the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) World Factbook, World Bank Group, and World Values Survey for each of the 43 countries. Simultaneous logistic regressions and independent samples *t*-tests were conducted to determine associations and mean differences among the abovementioned economic, cultural, educational, and professional variables. Results indicated that GDP, public spending on education, and public support for education did not significantly predict the ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists. Furthermore, no significant differences were found between different mean levels of child autonomy for any of the three examined variables. The results are discussed with regard to previous and future research, limitations, and implications for the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology at an international level.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
Gross Domestic Product	
Child Autonomy	10
Status of School Psychologists	
Proposed Study	
Research Questions and Hypotheses	21
CHAPTER 2: METHOD	23
Participants	
Procedures and Measures	
Data Screening and Cleaning	
Data Analysis Plan	33
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	36
Descriptive Statistics	36
Inferential Statistics	39
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	43
Summary of Main Findings	44
Ratio of School Psychologists to Students	
Level of Degree Offered	
Status of School Psychologists	
Child Autonomy	
Limitations and Future Research	
Implications for Practice	
Summary and Conclusions	03
REFERENCES	65
APPENDIX A: School Psychology International Survey	73
APPENDIX B: Values of Ratio of School Psychologists to Students and	
Economic Variables	104
APPENDIX C: Values of Level of Degree Offered, Public Support for Education,	
and Status of School Psychologists	106

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Countries Participating in the SPIS	25
Table 2	Descriptive Statistics for Educational, Economical, Cultural, and School Psychological Variables	38
Table 3	Logistic Regressions Predicting Ratio of School Psychologists to Students	40
Table 4	Logistic Regressions Predicting Level of Degree Offered	41
Table 5	Logistic Regressions Predicting Status of School Psychologists	41
Table 6	Descriptive Statistics for <i>T</i> -test Analyses	42

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Researchers examining international school psychology have described the specialty as one where school psychologists provide individual assessments to children displaying cognitive, emotional, social, or behavioral difficulties; develop and implement intervention programs; consult with teachers, parents, and other key professionals; engage in program development and evaluation; conduct research; and prepare and supervise others. Numerous titles have been given in place of school psychologist to those who deliver such services, including educational psychologist, psychologist in the schools, counselor, and psychologist in education (Jimerson, Oakland, & Farrell, 2007, p. 1).

The 1948 UNESCO report on school psychology and a follow-up of this report by Wall (1956) examined educational and school psychological policies and practices in developed and developing European countries. These reports focused on various topics, such as the characteristics and preparation of school psychologists, as well as political regulations of services. Guidelines were established in the 1956 report on the recommended ratio of school psychologists to students (1:7,000 or less) and the preparation and practice of school psychologists. The International School Psychology Association (ISPA) has since developed guidelines to help define and contribute to the preparation and practice of school psychology (Cunningham & Oakland, 1997). These include receiving a degree in a school psychology program in a department of psychology or educational psychology, a school of education, or a professional school; receiving

both training and supervision in various areas such as counseling, assessment, and consultation; and implementing these skills by providing direct services to individuals, groups, and systems.

Despite such attempts to develop school psychology services at an international level, sixteen out of the twenty countries with the largest populations (e.g., India, China, Indonesia, & Pakistan) do not have established school psychology services (Jimerson, Stewart, Skokut, Cardenas, & Malone, 2009). Although such services are emerging in various countries, most children do not have access to them. Even in countries with established school psychology services (e.g., Brazil and Germany), these services are often limited to private schools or specific regions (Oakland & Jimerson, in press). Eighty-three out of 192 member states of the United Nations provided evidence of school psychological practices (Jimerson, Skokut, Cardenas, Malone, & Stewart, 2008). Furthermore, approximately 939 million children worldwide live in countries that have ratios of school psychologists to students greater than 1:10,000, whereas only 572 million live in countries with ratios less than 1:10,000 (Jimerson et al., 2009).

Several qualities may account for the variation, including differences in economic stability, cultural values and beliefs, support provided to children requiring special education, development of psychological organizations, and access to education. These qualities were highlighted initially by Catterall (1982) and Saigh & Oakland (1989) and have continued to be a focus in recent research

(e.g., Oakland & Jimerson, 2007). Economic circumstances reportedly have a strong effect on the level of psychological services provided within and among countries (Saigh & Oakland, 1989). Psychology develops faster in countries with similar cultural orientations as compared to those with different orientations. Although education may be compulsory, a large number of children are not attending school in developing nations.

Although the field of school psychology continues to develop rapidly, few studies have made comparisons between the roles and responsibilities of school psychologists in different countries. The present study addressed these issues by examining how the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology is related to a country's economic and cultural factors, as well as to the public support provided to education and school psychologists.

Gross Domestic Product

A country's gross domestic product (GDP) is one important economic factor that has been examined in numerous studies related to both educational opportunities and psychological well-being. The GDP at purchasing power parity (PPP) is used often when examining a country's living conditions and resources. It has been defined by the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) World Factbook (2012) as the sum value of all goods and services that a nation produces each year. Another component of GDP, public spending on education (percent of GDP on education), also is relevant when considering the implications of a country's economical conditions on the development of education and available

psychological resources. The World Bank Group (2012) defines public spending on education as the total public expenditure (current and capital) on education expressed as a percentage of a country's GDP in a particular year.

Countries with lower GDP generally have higher birth rates and thus a lower investment in child quality, lower levels of education, and fewer children attending schools (Gupta, Verhoeven, & Tiongson, 2002; Moav, 2005).

Associations between education spending and GDP are significant, with GDP also being related to school enrollment rates (Gupta, Verhoeven, & Tiongson, 2002).

Consequently, there tends to be less education spending (percent of GDP) in countries with lower GDP. The quality of education also is positively associated with economic levels (Barro, 1991). Along these same lines, the development in education is a function of economic growth, with individual and nation-wide school performance having an increasing effect on a country's economy (Guthrie, 1990). Educational opportunities and economic deprivation in low and middle-income countries are linked, with economic deprivation also being associated with detrimental mental health outcomes for children (Patel, Flisher, Nikapota, & Malhotra, 2008).

The effect of GDP with respect to the preparation and practice of school psychologists at an international level also has been examined. Professionals in school psychology from 54 countries completed a 475-item questionnaire that focused upon six different areas, including characteristics of school psychologists, nature of school psychology services, and university programs and professional

regulation issues (Oakland and Cunningham, 1992). Fifty-five percent had doctoral degrees, 41 master's degrees, and 4 percent had bachelor degrees. The majority had either a degree in educational psychology (39 percent) or psychology (39 percent), with four percent having a degree in education and 18 percent having one in a different area. With respect to GDP, results of this study indicated that, when compared to lower GDP countries, higher GDP countries typically have a higher presence of school psychologists (M = 2126 vs. M = 307; p < .001), more master's than undergraduate programs (High GDP: 5 undergraduate and 42 master's; Low GDP: 55 undergraduate and 40 master's), fewer external threats (e.g., lack of public support for education-15% for high versus 54% for lower GDP countries), and lower school psychologist to student ratios (Median Ratios: 1:3,500 vs. 1:26,000). Consequently, because school psychologists in less developed countries with lower GDP typically are less educated, poorly paid, and experience more threats to their profession, Oakland and Cunningham suggest that they may benefit from increased preparation and funding of resources from external sources.

More recent research also collected data comparing the provision of school psychology services and preparation of professionals in different countries. The International School Psychology Survey (ISPS; Jimerson & ISPA Research Committee, 2002) is comprised of 46 items that examined five different school psychology domains: characteristics of school psychologists, training and regulation, roles and responsibilities, challenges, and research perceptions of

school psychologists. The ISPS has been translated into different languages for use across countries, with various research studies examining these data (e.g., Jimerson, Graydon, Curtis, & Staskal, 2007; Jimerson et al., 2004; Jimerson et al., 2006). Descriptive analyses, including frequency of responses, were typically computed to examine results within and across each country. Within each of these studies, multiple participants responded from each country, typically being practicing school, clinical, or developmental psychologists and not considered as having a particular expertise in school psychology. Many studies made comparisons between lower and higher GDP countries; however, unlike the findings reported by Oakland & Cunningham (1992), results from these abovementioned studies (Jimerson et al., 2004; Jimerson et al., 2006) suggested that both ratios of school psychologists to students and external challenges did not appear to differ in lower and higher GDP countries.

Because of this discrepancy in findings between these seminal studies that examine international school psychology, additional research should further explore possible differences in lower and higher GDP countries. This information may enable researchers to determine whether additional resources need to be invested in lower GDP countries to help them expand upon and increase the number of children having access to school psychological services. Oakland and Cunningham's 1992 study was conducted in the 1980's and now may be outdated. Since then, numerous changes have occurred across countries with respect to the ratios of school psychologists to students and level of degree offered, as well as

other key variables (Jimerson, Oakland, & Farrell, 2007b; Saigh & Oakland, 1989). For example, more school psychology programs have now been established throughout the world, leading to a greater number of trained professionals within this specialty of psychology. Furthermore, studies conducted by Jimerson and colleagues only utilized descriptive and not inferential statistics, thus limiting the external validity of their conclusions. Finally, despite the relevance of public spending on education (percent of GDP), the influence of this variable has not been examined with respect to school psychology.

Public Support for Education

Along with GDP, public support for education also affects the advancement and support of school psychology within developed and developing countries, particularly since the field has its roots in both psychology and education. An important international conference on children's rights in education was held in Copenhagen, Denmark, in April 1998 (Cohen, Erickson, Flekkoy, & Hart, 1999). Its goal was to promote a child's rights and development through education, through a collaborative effort between various international agencies, including the International Bureau of Education, International School Psychology Association, and the Non-Governmental Organization (NGO) Group for the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Based on their discussions, sixteen key themes were identified, including education being a right and not a privilege for each child, the obligation of society to fulfill the child's rights through education, education and learning persisting beyond the school setting, and that

education must respect individual and contextual differences. Although the focus was on ensuring child welfare and enforcing human rights in school practices that will subsequently contribute to increased awareness of such rights in society, these agencies also acknowledged that inadequate funding might make the proper implementation of such practices more difficult.

Despite economic limitations, countries are attempting to promote education and further develop other services provided to children. For example, Daniels (2010) highlighted the long history of discrepancy between the quality of education and provision of services in rich and poor areas of South Africa, based primarily on racial differences. Less funding and fewer specialized services have been given to students who are not white, with many children who experienced learning challenges being excluded from education. Daniels indicated that present and future goals (2009-2021) are to move toward inclusive education, ensuring all students with special needs who have been segregated or are not attending school are included in education programs and that diverse learner needs are addressed. He also accentuated the critical role that school psychologists have in the development of inclusive education, helping address barriers that impede learning, and collaborating with other key stakeholders to ensure public support and quality education for all children.

There is an international emphasis on promoting and developing education. However, research that examines factors that influence the provision of school psychological services frequently report lack of public support for

education as a challenge for the specialty of school psychology. In studies that examine ISPS data (Jimerson & ISPA Research Committee, 2002), this lack of support is reported in many countries, with a higher percent of respondents endorsing less support in Albania (46%), Estonia (67%), Greece (24%), Germany (43%), Russia (88%), and Egypt (42%; Jimerson, Alghorani, Darweish, & Abdelaziz, 2010; Jimerson et al., 2004; Jimerson et al., 2006). In many of these countries, the low status of education also is a concern (e.g., 27% of respondents endorse it as being a concern in Albania, 25% in Estonia, and 47% Egypt). In some of the above countries such as Russia (Jimerson et al., 2006) and Egypt (Jimerson et al., 2010), school psychologists primarily held bachelors level degrees and there were smaller school psychologist to student ratios than in other countries examined. The authors account differences in degree levels and ratios to the fewer school psychologists within these countries, with many students not having access to school psychology services. However, this was not the case for Germany (Jimerson et al., 2006), whose respondents endorsed a lack of public support for education, yet German school psychologists held higher degrees. On the other hand, some countries that were less likely to endorse lack of support for education as being a problem (e.g., Australia), reported a higher ratio of school psychologists to students, with its professionals often holding master's degrees. Consequently, these findings indicate mixed results with respect to the effect of lack of support for education on the provision of services and training of school psychology.

Other research has also highlighted the importance of public education for school psychology. Both Oakland & Cunningham (1992) and Curtis, Hunley, & Chesno (2004) examined how the ratio of school psychologists to students was influenced by special and regular education services. Oakland & Cunningham found that ratios were often more favorable in countries where special education services had been established. Curtis and colleagues, focusing more specifically on various types of school psychology services within the United States, found that lower ratios of school psychologists to students often were tied to an increased number of students being served through individual and group counseling, and higher ratios being associated with greater special education activities, such as psycho-educational assessments. Their study provided a summary of trends of school psychology demographics and employment conditions, with data being collected from the 1989 to 1990 or 1999 to 2000 school year. Because school psychology services often are better established in countries with developed education systems that receive higher levels of public support (Oakland & Jimerson, 2008), further research that utilizes more recent data that specifically examines whether public support for education directly influences the practice and presence of school psychology is needed

Child Autonomy

Cultural factors, such as self-expressive and emancipative values that highlight human equality and autonomy, have also been linked to GDP, education, and the presence of school psychology. Self-expressive values

typically are those that value freedom of expression, freedom to make decisions, political activism, environmental protection, gender equality, and tolerance toward minorities (Inglehart & Welzel, 2009). Along these same lines, emancipative values prioritize gender equality instead of patriarchy, tolerance instead of conformity, autonomy instead of authority, and participation instead of security (Welzel & Inglehart, 2009). Although emancipative and self-expression values are separate terms, they often are used interchangeably, represent similar beliefs, and have been found to correlate strongly (r = .90; Inglehart & Welzel, 2005; Welzel & Inglehart, 2009). However, emancipative values tend to focus more on the theme of participation (Welzel & Inglehart, 2009). Personal autonomy for children with respect to education has been examined as an emancipative value, including the promotion of child independence and imagination as indication of autonomy, along with obedience as a quality that prevents it (World Values Survey Association, 2011).

The promotion of child autonomy through freedom of speech has received international focus. As summarized by Lundy (2007), Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in November 1989 emphasizes the right of the child to be heard and participate freely in society. More specifically, it endorsed the child's right to have space (i.e., given the opportunity to express a view), a voice (i.e., they must be facilitated to express their views), an audience (i.e., the view must be listened to), and influence (i.e., the view must be acted upon when appropriate). Despite this endorsement, adults in some countries

remain skeptical about children having these rights; typically believing that they either lack the ability to provide meaningful input when making decisions, or that providing them with self-control will undermine adult authority and lead to less structure at school. Even with these concerns, it has also been acknowledged that such freedom will lead to positive outcomes both within the child and school environment (Lundy, 2007).

Although less research has focused specifically on child autonomy with respect to education and GDP, studies found strong associations between self-expressive and emancipative values. For example, findings from Pettersson (2003) showed a high correlation between GDP per capita and emancipative values (r = .78, p < .001). Furthermore, Welzel and Inglehart (2008) found that highly educated individuals typically place a higher value on autonomy and self-expression, with children coming from more economically stable families also receiving greater educational opportunities.

The value systems of higher- and lower-income countries differ, with countries with higher per capita GDP (e.g., Canada, New Zealand, and Italy) often emphasizing self-expression and emancipative values such as autonomy and freedom of expression. In contrast, countries with lower per capita GDP (e.g., Morocco, Egypt, and Zimbabwe) esteem survival values such as economic and physical security (Inglehart & Welzel, 2005; Inglehart & Welzel, 2009; Welzel & Inglehart, 2009). Furthermore, economic growth, rising levels of education, and diversity of social opportunities lead to greater levels of autonomy, which in turn

encourage people to be more receptive to individual freedom and equality (Welzel & Inglehart, 2008).

The influence of a country's cultural conditions, including autonomy, on the presence and strength of school psychology (Cook, Jimerson, & Begeny, 2010; Cunningham, 2007; Oakland & Jimerson, 2007) also has been examined. Cunningham (2007) examined levels of professional autonomy in different countries using data collected by Oakland & Cunningham (1992). A level of professional autonomy was defined for each country, with comparisons made through naturalistic inquiry to rate the similarity of each country on autonomy indicators. An autonomy configuration then was obtained and visually displayed on a plot through multidimensional scaling analysis, with countries with similar levels of autonomy being grouped together. Data also were utilized to determine whether differences existed in internal and external threats to the specialty of school psychology in lower and higher autonomy countries based on responses to a 15-item rating scale questionnaire.

Thirteen out of 54 countries with stronger levels of professional autonomy (e.g., New Zealand, Denmark, Finland, France, and Israel) also had higher GDP and lower population growth rates than other countries. Furthermore, specific external and internal threats to school psychology were examined in higher and lower autonomy countries, with lower status of psychology, as well as a greater emphasis on special education activities such as assessments, being found in low autonomy countries. Cunningham also emphasized the importance of addressing

cultural diversity and establishing means for expressing respect, support, and sharing knowledge, qualities that can help promote professional autonomy and contribute to the field of international school psychology.

Cook and colleagues (2010) examined how cultural modernity, and more specifically, self-expression values and gender empowerment relate to the presence of school psychology. Their study was one of the first quantitative analyses that examined the effect of sociocultural/political factors on the presence of international school psychology. These researchers retrieved their data from multiple sources, including Jimerson, Skokut and colleagues (2008), the CIA World Factbook (2008), and the self-expression values composite from the World Values Survey (Inglehart & Welzel, 2005). They hypothesized that self-expression values would predict the presence of school psychology above and beyond a country's socioeconomic development.

A significant positive relationship was found between the following: self-expression values and the presence of school psychology (r = .42), self-expression values and per capita GDP (r = .54), and per capita GDP and the presence of school psychology (r = .54). Per capita GDP independently accounted for 30 percent of the variance in school psychology and the combined gender empowerment and self-expressive values contributed an additional 9 percent of the variance. It is logical that the presence of school psychology is greater in countries emphasizing such values, since this specialty depends on the overall strength of psychology within a country, which typically is only strong in

countries that endorse the importance of individual differences. The authors also recommended that future research focus on internal factors of school psychology, speculating that this field might be more developed in countries with strong professional forces, including those with active leaders and established school psychological organizations.

Despite attention given to a child's rights both in school psychology and international policies, few studies have examined how a country's level of child autonomy affects the development of school psychology. More specifically, although both Cunningham (2007) and Cook and colleagues (2010) examined how levels of autonomy are related to internal and external school psychological variables through comprehensive quantitative analyses, their focus has been on professional instead of child autonomy. Additional research that explores whether views of child autonomy across countries influence the presence and perceptions of school psychology may therefore expand upon and contribute a different dimension to past research.

Status of School Psychologists

Professional status and identity of school psychologists has historically been a concern in the field of school psychology (Oakland & Saigh, 1989). In his 1982 chapter on international school psychology, Catterall predicted that there were approximately 40,000 psychologists around the world either working in schools or with school-aged children. Ten years later, Oakland & Cunningham (1992) estimated 87,000 school psychologists in 54 countries. Jimerson and

colleagues (2009) approximated similar numbers, with findings showing that by 2007 there were approximately 76,100 school psychologists throughout 51 countries. Current estimates suggest that there are approximately 100,000 school psychologists (Oakland, personal communication, May 10, 2013). Consequently, the presence of school psychology has risen considerably since Catterall's 1982 estimation.

Despite the increase in number of school psychologists internationally, almost half (42 percent) of the school psychologists identified by Jimerson and colleagues (2009) were in the United States (32, 300). The country with the second largest number of school psychologists was Turkey (11, 327), with Jamaica having the fewest school psychologists (1). Factors determining the presence of school psychology include: a) professionals identified as fulfilling duties of school psychologists, b) regulations that require school psychologists to be licensed or credentialed, c) professional associations of school psychology, d) university programs in school psychology, and e) university programs that provide doctoral level preparation (Jimerson, Skokut et al., 2008). Data were collected through a systematic search process, examining existing publications, searching for professional labels and descriptors online, and identifying and contacting available colleagues in each country. Data from the Central Intelligence Agency World Factbook and UNICEF also were utilized. Only 11 of 83 countries were identified as having evidence of school psychology in all five areas (e.g., Australia, Cyprus, Brazil, Greece, and Canada), with the majority

having three or fewer factors present within their country (e.g., Albania, Belgium, China, and India). More specifically, although school psychology was present in 83 countries, only 29 countries had licensing or credentialing requirements, 39 had professional associations, 56 had university preparation programs, and 19 countries provided doctoral level preparation (Jimerson, Skokut et al., 2008). Each of the 83 countries examined by these researchers had professionals fulfilling the responsibilities of school psychologists. Only 83 out of 192 countries in the United Nations endorsed the presence of school psychology. Thus, the specialty does not exist in all countries. These statistics are important considerations when examining the status of school psychology at a global level.

With respect to the professional status and identity of school psychologists, many school psychologists identify themselves as having low prestige, receiving little recognition for their services, and having restrictions placed on their services by the public and educators (Oakland & Saigh, 1989). Due to these challenges, the professionals interviewed in their study indicated that they would increase their status by becoming increasingly visible within the education system, instead of focusing primarily on special education activities. Since this study was conducted, additional research has also found that low status of school psychology frequently is an external threat to the field. For example, 40% of professionals who responded to a survey indicated that the low status of school psychology is a threat to the specialty, with lower GDP countries rating this and other external threats as more prevalent than higher GDP countries

(Oakland & Cunningham, 1992). Furthermore, various countries that completed the ISPS (Jimerson and ISPA Research Committee, 2002) also reported a low status of school psychology as being a threat. As previously described, multiple school psychology specialists completed the ISPS, with data being entered online by a representative in each country. Those countries endorsing low status as a threat include Australia, China, Germany, and Italy (Jimerson et al., 2006), Georgia, Switzerland, and the United Arab Emirates (Jimerson, Graydon et al., 2008), and Albania, Cyprus, and Estonia (Jimerson et al., 2004). The percentage of professionals in the abovementioned countries endorsing this threat ranged from 13 to 65, with the highest percentage reported in Germany and the lowest in Switzerland.

In these studies conducted by Jimerson and colleagues, school psychologists in both lower and higher GDP countries report a threat to the status of school psychology. Consequently, these results indicate that GDP does not influence such challenges and are unlike the findings of Oakland and Cunningham (1992). Furthermore, the findings of Jimerson and colleagues do not suggest any consistency in terms of ratio of school psychologists to students or degrees held. However, quantitative analyses were not conducted to examine direct relationships between the status of school psychologists and these variables, once again limiting the external validity of these findings. Because the status of school psychologists is important to the future development of the field,

additional research should examine associations between this external threat and other qualities that influence the development of school psychology.

Proposed Study

The goal of the proposed study is to explore how a country's GDP, public spending on education (percent of GDP), public support for education, and child autonomy are related to the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology across countries. The ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists, respectively will be used to represent indicators of the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology. This study aims to contribute to the current literature in various ways.

First, although previous research in the field of economics and education have examined associations between GDP, education, autonomy, and mentalhealth outcomes (e.g., Gupta et al., 2002; Patel et al., 2008; Pettersson, 2003), there is little school psychology research that provides a quantitative analysis of these relationships. Cook and colleagues (2010) found significant relationships between per capita GDP and the presence of school psychology, self-expression values and the presence of school psychology, and self-expression values and per capita GDP. Although other studies have speculated country differences in GDP, autonomy, status of education, ratio of school psychologists to students, and level of degree obtained (e.g., Cunningham, 2007; Jimerson et al., 2007; Oakland & Cunningham, 1992), the findings are mixed. Research conducted by Oakland and

colleagues (Cunningham, 2007; Oakland & Cunningham, 1992) utilized data collected in the late 1980's. They now may be outdated, as the field of school psychology has undergone various developments since that time, such as a decrease in the recommended ratio of school psychologists to students and an increase in practicing school psychologists (Jimerson, Oakland, & Farrell, 2007b; Saigh & Oakland, 1989). Although Jimerson and colleagues collected more recent data (e.g., Jimerson, Graydon et al., 2008; Jimerson et al., 2007), practicing psychologists and not professionals with more requisite knowledge in school psychology completed the ISPS.

Secondly, although previous studies have investigated how self-expression values and professional autonomy may differ and influence school psychology across countries (e.g., Cunningham, 2007; Cook et al., 2010), research has not looked at the effect of a country's view on child autonomy. Along these same lines, even though various studies have examined GDP and support for education, public spending on education (percent of GDP) has not been included, despite its potential relevance and value to professional perceptions of support for education. Finally, the status of school psychologists plays a significant role in the acceptance and development of school psychology, with both current and past research indicating that low status is a threat to this specialty (Jimerson et al., 2006; Oakland & Saigh, 1989). However, research in this area either may be outdated or is speculative and based on qualitative reports and descriptive statistics.

Therefore, the present study will expand these findings by examining the effect of GDP, public spending on education (percent of GDP), public support for education, and child autonomy on the ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists. School psychology data utilized within this study was recently collected within the past five years, with responses being provided by identified school psychology professionals with requisite knowledge. Finally, the current study is intended to expand upon previous research by examining child autonomy and public spending on education.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Based on the preceding literature review, this study will address the following research questions:

Question 1: When examined simultaneously, are GDP, public spending on education, and public support for education predictive of (a) the ratio of school psychologists to students, (b) level of degree offered, and (c) status of school psychologists?

Hypotheses:

- a) GDP will be a positive predictor of the level of degree offered and status of school psychologists and a negatively predictor of the ratio of school psychologists to students.
- b) Public spending on education (percent of GDP) will be a positive predictor of the level of degree offered and status of school

- psychologists and a negative predictor of the ratio of school psychologists to students.
- c) Public support for education will be a positive predictor of the level of degree offered and status of school psychologists and a negative predictor of the ratio of school psychologists to students.

Question 2: Does the level of child autonomy differ among countries with a smaller or higher ratio of school psychologists to students?

Hypothesis: Significant mean differences will exist across countries on level of child autonomy, with countries that have small ratios of school psychologists to students having a higher level of child autonomy than countries with larger ratios.

Question 3: Does the level of child autonomy differ across countries offering master or doctoral-level training when compared to those only offering bachelor-level or no training?

Hypothesis: Significant mean differences will exist across countries in child autonomy, with those providing master or doctoral level training having a higher level of child autonomy than those with bachelor-level or no training.

Question 4: Does the level of child autonomy differ across countries where school psychologists hold higher status versus those countries where they hold lower status?

Hypothesis: Significant mean differences in child autonomy will exist across countries, with child autonomy being higher in countries in which the

status of school psychologists is higher than in countries with lower status of school psychologists.

CHAPTER TWO: METHOD

Participants

In 2007, an invitation to complete the School Psychology International Survey (SPIS; Jimerson & Oakland, 2007) was sent to affiliates of the International Institute of School Psychology in 62 countries. Out of the countries invited, 47 responded, with data collection occurring through the use of a webbased survey during 2008. Independent samples t-tests were conducted to determine whether significant differences in GDP and percent spending in education existed between those countries who did and did not respond to the SPIS. No significant differences were found between groups. Multiple emails were sent to these country affiliates to identify the most knowledgeable school psychology professionals based on consensus amongst numerous contacts within a country. The majority of the 47 countries had two affiliates with requisite knowledge in school psychology who first completed the survey individually, and then discussed, revised, and inputted their country-specific information into one web-based questionnaire. The SPIS was administered in English, with all respondents being fluent in this language. The countries from which data were collected are included in Table 1.

The respondents completing the online survey varied in terms of level of degree completed, with 18% of respondents having a master's degree, 14%

having a specialist's degree (master's + 1 or 2 years), and 63% having a doctoral degree. These degrees were completed in different areas of psychology and education: 35% in general psychology, 27% in school or educational psychology, 8% in clinical psychology, 6% in education and psychology, 4% in counseling and educational/school psychology, and 2% in each of education, counseling psychology, clinical and school psychology, clinical and counseling psychology, developmental and clinical psychology, and vocational psychology. The area of concentration was not provided for 6% of the respondents. The current professional positions of these respondents varied, including university professor, researcher and lecturer, head of school psychology services, psychotherapist, school psychologist, school-based consultant, and director of educational or school psychology services. The majority of these respondents had been associated with professional school psychology for 20 years (12%), although the range of years associated varied from 1 (2%) to 40 (4%). Data from the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) World Factbook (2012), World Bank Group (2012), and World Values Survey (2011) were also utilized from each of these 47 countries. Along with the SPIS, these sources of data are described below.

Table 1

Countries Participating in the SPIS

Country Name (N = 47)						
Austria	Estonia	Ireland	Scotland			
Belgium	Finland	Jamaica	Seychelles			
Belize	France	Lebanon	Slovak Republic			
Brazil	Germany	Lithuania	South Africa			
Canada	Greece	Malta	Suriname*			
Canary Islands	Grenada	Netherlands	Switzerland			
Colombia	Hong	New Zealand	Turkey			
Croatia	Kong	Norway	United Arab Emirates*			
Cyprus	Hungary	Pakistan	United States of America			
Czech Republic	Iceland	Portugal*	Venezuela			
Denmark	India	Puerto Rico*	Vietnam			
England	Indonesia	Romania	Zimbabwe			

^{*}Country dropped from analysis due to missing data on four or more variables.

Procedure and Measures

The following variables were collected from the sources described below and analyzed for the purposes of the present study.

Dependent Variables

Ratio of School Psychologists to Students. Data for the continuous variable ratio of school psychologists to students was taken from the School Psychology International Survey (SPIS; Jimerson & Oakland, 2007), which was extensively developed using and expanding upon items from multiple sources, including those from previous surveys completed by Oakland and colleagues (Jimerson & ISPA Research Committee, 2002; Oakland & Cunningham, 1992) and the NASP membership survey completed every five years (e.g., Curtis et al., 2008). International affiliates also provided revisions so that the items on the SPIS were appropriate for the contemporary international context. The SPIS consists of 83 multi-part questions regarding the nature and status of school psychology in their countries and includes items addressing: (a) School Psychology Services: Professional Demographics, Responsibilities, Assessments Used, Interventions Used, (b) Professional, Research, and Legal Issues, and (c) Programs, Professional Preparation: Characteristics of Students, Faculty, and Institutions. The response format varies throughout the questionnaire, including 3-, 4-, and 5-point rating scale formats, written and "yes" or "no" responses, percentages, and filling in bubbles to denote the appropriate response. On the SPIS, respondents were asked to indicate the ratio of school psychologists to students (1 to___) in schools that provide school psychological services. The complete SPIS is included in Appendix A.

To ensure that the ratios listed in the SPIS were accurate, data were triangulated from multiple sources. When discrepancies existed, the following computation was used to determine the exact ratio of school psychologists to students (Jimerson et al., 2009). First, the total number of school-age children within a country (Central Intelligence Agency World Factbook, 2012) was divided by 15 (birth through 14 years 11 months are represented in the Factbook). Then, this number was multiplied by 12 to account for a standard of 12 years of compulsory education for each country. These calculations yielded the standard number of school-age children, which was divided by the number of school psychologists to determine the ratio for each country. Based on this information, approximately 37% of the countries had a ratio of less than or equal to 1:2,000 and 63% had ratios greater than 1:2,000.

Level of Degree Offered. Similar to the previously described variable, data for the level of degree offered were taken from the SPIS (Jimerson & Oakland, 2007). Respondents were asked to write the number of professional preparation programs available in their country at six different levels (e.g., bachelor's 3 or 4 year program, specialist's, master's, and doctoral). This information was then recoded into a categorical variable for the purposes of the present study, with countries without school psychology training being coded as "0," those only having bachelor degree programs coded as "1," those having master's/specialist programs coded as "2," and those with doctoral level training coded as "3." If a country had more than one level of degree offered in school

psychology (e.g., master's and doctoral), they were coded with the highest level of degree provided (i.e., "3"). Some respondents (N=13) did not provide information regarding the highest level of degree offered in their country. Consequently, these missing data were obtained from the previously published work of Jimerson and colleagues (2008), as well as through email correspondence with the respondents who originally completed the survey. Approximately 28% of the countries surveyed did not provide training in school psychology, 12% had bachelor level training, 30% provided master's or specialist level training, and 30% had doctoral level training.

Status of School Psychologists. Status of school psychologists also was taken from the SPIS (Jimerson & Oakland, 2007). An overall composite was created based on the following five items that address the status of school psychologists: 1) school psychologists are seen as having low status by educators, 2) school psychologists are seen as having low status by psychologists, 3) school psychologists are seen as having low status by the public, 4) school psychologists are seen as having low status because, within the country, the status of psychology is low, and 5) school psychologists have low status because, within the country, the status of education is low. It is a categorical variable and each of the five items was completed using a 3-point rating scale (I = never, I = never,

determine the internal consistency of these items (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994). Internal consistency was good (.84), indicating that they measure the same general construct and produce similar scores for this construct. Consequently, the creation of one composite score representing all five items was appropriate. Approximately 47% of the respondents indicated that low status of school psychologists is "never" a problem, 42% indicated that it is "sometimes" a problem, and 11% indicated that it is "often" a problem.

Child Autonomy. Survey data from the World Values Survey (WVS; World Values Survey Association, 2009; 2011) were utilized for child autonomy, a continuous variable. The WVS was conducted in various languages in conjunction with the European Values Survey (EVS) to investigate sociocultural and political change worldwide. The survey addressed various areas of life, including family, work, religion and morale, and politics. Five waves of the survey were conducted in 1981, 1990-1991, 1995-1996, 1999-2001, and 2005-2007. Data collected in the 2005-2007 wave were used. Respondents in approximately 80 countries completed the survey in at least one wave of the study, with these countries including approximately 85 percent of the world's population. This survey and its related publications can be retrieved online at www.worldvaluessurvey.org

Based on these data, an autonomy index was developed by Ingelhart (1997) to represent the degree to which children are encouraged to exhibit personal autonomy in their decision-making and behavior. The autonomy index

represents a 4-item one factor solution derived from factor analysis using data from the WVS: a) independence, b) determination, c) obedience, and d) religious faith. Respondents were asked whether they found the abovementioned qualities that children can be encouraged to learn at home important. Each respondent received an autonomy index score, with a standardized weighted average being computed that captured the national-level autonomy within countries (Cook, personal communication, February 5, 2013). Results from previous work indicate that internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the autonomy composite is acceptable (.70; Ingelhart, 1997). Available autonomy data for each of the countries that completed the SPIS were used and labeled as "child autonomy," since the items included within this composite are child directed.

Independent Variables

Gross Domestic Product (GDP). The gross domestic product (GDP) at purchasing power parity (PPP) for each country was taken from the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) World Factbook (2012) and is a continuous variable. The World Factbook provides information on 267 countries and locations around the world, including their history, people, economy, government, and communications. As previously indicated, the World Factbook defines the GDP at PPP as the sum value of all goods and services that a nation produces each year and is often preferred by economists when comparing the economic development across countries. The CIA World Factbook indicates that computing this measure is difficult and that the statistic is provided in US dollars, with this value having

been assigned to all goods and services within a country, even if such resources do not have a United States equivalent (e.g., specific types of military equipment not being available in the United States). Consequently, estimates for some countries are based on a small number and varied type of resources.

Public Spending on Education (percent of GDP). The percent of GDP spent on education data is a continuous variable that was retrieved from the World Bank Group (2012) and was utilized as another indicator of support for public education. The World Bank Group provides information on approximately 213 countries and locations around the world, including features related to education, health, poverty, and economic policy. The World Bank defines public expenditure on education (percent of GDP) as the total public expenditure (current and capital) on education expressed as a percentage of the GDP in a particular year. This includes government spending on educational institutions (public and private), education administration, and transfers/subsidies for private entities (e.g., students/households). For the current study, the majority of the data (N = 38) were taken from 2008, because data for all of these countries were not available from subsequent years. However, some data (N = 7) were taken from 2003-2007 due to availability. Data was not provided for 2 of the 47 countries (Suriname and Puerto Rico).

Public Support for Education. Data on public support for education also was retrieved from the SPIS (Jimerson & Oakland, 2007). It is a categorical variable, with a composite being created from the following three items to

represent this variable: 1) lack of stability in the educational system, 2) too many educational reforms, and 3) lack of public support for education. For each of the three variables, respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which each item constitutes a problem for school psychologists in their country using a 3-point rating scale (I = Never, 2 = Sometimes, 3 = Often). Similar to the status of school psychologists variable, prior to creating this composite, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was computed to determine the internal consistency of these items (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994). Internal consistency was good (.75), indicating that they measure the same general construct and produce similar scores for this construct. Consequently, the creation of one composite score to represent all three items was reasonable. Responses indicated that lack of support for education is "never" a problem for 35% of countries, "sometimes" a problem for 51% of countries, and "always" a problem for the remaining 14% of countries.

Data Cleaning and Screening

The data were screened and cleaned to identify outliers, missing data, and check assumptions. No univariate or multivariate outliers were detected and all variables met the assumption of normality. Furthermore, none of the independent (predictor) or dependent variables were highly correlated, indicating that there were no issues with multicollinearity. However, some of the variables did not meet the assumptions for linearity and homogeneity of variance. Consequently, as previously stated, logistic regression analyses were conducted because their use does not require the above-described assumptions. However, those variables used

in the subsequent *t*-test analyses did meet both the assumption for homogeneity of variance and normality with respect to child autonomy. Data screening also revealed that item responses for some of the variables were missing. Because four of the 47 countries (United Arab Emirates, Suriname, Puerto Rico, and Portugal) had missing items for four or five of the seven variables, they were dropped from subsequent analyses. Thirteen additional countries having one or two missing items were kept for all analyses. Consequently, data from 43 countries were used for the present study.

Data Analysis Plan

Data analysis consisted of both descriptive and inferential statistics.

Analyses were conducted using SPSS version 20. Descriptive statistics, including means, standard deviations, and ranges were computed prior to comparing the countries. Inferential statistics consisted of simultaneous logistic regressions and independent samples *t*-test analyses. One-tailed analyses were used to test directional hypotheses at the Bonferroni adjusted p-level of .01

Regression Analyses

Simultaneous logistic regression analyses were conducted to determine the relative importance of GDP, public spending on education, and public support for education when predicting the ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists. Logistic regressions were chosen for the following reasons: a) the current study utilizes a combination of categorical and continuous variables, and b) the assumptions for linearity and

homogeneity of variance were not met for all variables, with research recommending the use of logistic regressions when assumptions are violated (e.g., Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). The dependent variables (ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists) were dichotomized (value of "0" or "1"). For ratio of school psychologists to students, countries were given a code of "0" if their ratio was less than or equal to 1:2,000 and a code of "1" if the ratio was greater than 1:2,000. This division was chosen based on the recommended ratio from Jimerson and colleagues (2009) from their comparison of ratios of school psychologists to students in 51 countries. For level of degree offered, countries were either categorized as having bachelor level or no training in school psychology (code of "0") or master's/specialist or doctoral level training (code of "1"). This categorization was chosen to enable direct comparisons across countries providing specific school psychology training at the graduate level and those offering more general psychology training at the bachelor's level (or no training). Finally, for status of school psychologists, countries were categorized according to their response on the 3-point rating scale. Those indicating that there are "never" any problems with regard to the status of school psychologists were coded as "0" and those indicating that there are "sometimes" or "often" problems were coded as "1." Since the composite values were not whole numbers, they were rounded to fit into one of the two groups. This coding method enabled

comparisons between countries endorsing no problems with the status of school psychologists and those indicating that problems arise in this area.

Analyses consisted of three simultaneous logistic regressions. First, the ratio of school psychologists to students was used as the dependent variable, with GDP, public spending on education, and public support for education being entered simultaneously as independent variables. Second, level of degree offered was entered as the dependent variable, with the abovementioned three variables once again being entered simultaneously as independent variables. Finally, status of school psychologists was entered as the dependent variable, once again entering the abovementioned three independent variables simultaneously. Previous research has shown that GDP predicts support for education, presence of school psychology, and autonomy (e.g., Cook et al., 2010; Gupta et al., 2002). However, because the other two independent variables have a more direct relation to school psychology and GDP is beyond our control when making changes to further promote school psychological services and training, simultaneous regressions were chosen so that each independent variable had an equal chance of being a significant predictor within the regression equation.

T-Test Analyses

Independent samples *t*-test analyses were conducted to determine whether there were significant mean differences in child autonomy across different levels of ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists. Child autonomy was entered as the dependent variable,

with each of the three above-mentioned variables being used as grouping variables for the purpose of this analysis. The same dichotomous categories (e.g., 0= bachelor level or no training vs. 1 = master/specialist or doctoral level training) described above for each of these variables were used to define the group levels.

CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Table 2 displays the descriptive statistics for all variables. The name of the country representing the minimum and maximum values for each variable is also noted to provide more country-specific information. For example, based on the table, Grenada had the lowest ratio of school psychologists to students (1: 300) and Pakistan had the highest ratio (1: 1, 215, 435; See Appendix B). Furthermore, Zimbabwe had the lowest GDP (\$500) and Norway had the highest (\$53,300) GDP. With respect to public spending on education (percent GDP), Lebanon had the lowest (2%) and Denmark had the highest percent spending (7.7%). Specific country values of ratios of school psychologists to students, GDP, and percent spending on education are included in Appendix B.

For some variables (level of degree offered; status of school psychologists; public support for education), multiple countries had the same response rating for the minimum and maximum value, so countries included in the table are exemplary (see Appendix C for all countries). For level of degree offered, Turkey, Belize, and Jamaica did not have training in school psychology at any

36

degree level, whereas Malta, Ireland, and Estonia are examples of countries who had training at the master's or specialist level. Greece, Canada, and Croatia all had doctoral level training. For status of school psychologists, Ireland, Switzerland, and Cyprus are countries that reportedly "never" had problems with status of school psychologists, whereas countries such as Estonia and Brazil "often" had trouble in this area. Countries such as Belgium, the United States, and Canada "sometimes" had problems with the status of their school psychologists. Along these same lines, with respect to public support for education, Lebanon, Jamaica, and Iceland are examples of countries who "never" had problems, Malta, Denmark, and Estonia "sometimes" had problems, and Brazil, Venezuela, and Pakistan "often" had problems. The descriptive statistics provided in Table 2 are based on the original values and item responses for each variable and not on the dichotomized variables.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for Educational, Economical, Cultural, and School

Psychological Variables

Variable	N	Mean	Standard Deviation	Range
Dependent Variables				
Ratio of School Psychologists to Students	43	71, 327	221, 390	300-1, 215,435 (Grenada; Pakistan)
Level of Degree Offered	43	1.60	1.18	0.00-3.00* (Turkey; Greece)
Status of School Psychologists	38	1.61	.53	1.00-3.00** (Ireland; Brazil)
Child Autonomy	36	.45	.10	.2462 (Zimbabwe; Norway)
Independent Variables				
Gross Domestic Product	43	25, 153	14, 593	\$500-\$53,300 (Zimbabwe; Norway)
Public Spending on Education (percent of GDP)	43	4.92	1.32	2.00-7.70 (Lebanon; Denmark)
Public Support for Education	37	1.83	.59	1.00-3.00** (Jamaica; Brazil)

^{*0=} No training; 1= Bachelor Level Training; 2= Master's/Specialist Level Training; 3= Doctoral Level Training; **1= Never; 2= Sometimes; 3= Often (Lack of Support/Low Status).

Inferential Statistics

Logistic Regression Analyses

A test of the full model with all three predictors entered simultaneously against a constant-only model was not significant for ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists.

Consequently, none of the predictors were significantly associated with countries designated as having ratios above and below 1:2,000, those offering no and bachelor level training compared to those with graduate level training, and those with and without reported problems regarding the status of school psychologists. This is possibly due to the small sample size, although the below effect sizes are provided to determine whether any potential variables of influence warrant investigation in further research.

For ratio of school psychologists to students, the Cox & Snell test indicated that the predictors accounted for 9% of the variance. For level of degree offered, results of this test showed that predictors accounted for 3% of the variance, and for status of school psychologists, they only accounted for 7% percent of the variance. Furthermore, when examining the odds ratios of the predictors examined for ratio of school psychologists to students, only public support for education had an odds ratio of practical importance, χ^2 (1) = .39, p = .53, OR = 1.56. More specifically, for every increment in unit on a scale of 1 to 3, a country is 1.56 times more likely to be a low ratio country. Public support for education was also the strongest predictor of level of degree offered, χ^2 (1) = .21,

p = .65, OR = 1.33, suggesting that for every increment in unit on a scale of 1 to 3, a country is 1.33 times more likely to be a country offering undergraduate or no training. Finally, public support for education was once again the strongest predictor of status of school psychologists, χ^2 (1) = .81, p = .37, OR = 1.88, suggesting that for every increment in unit on a scale of 1 to 3, a country is 1.88 times more likely to have a low status of school psychologists. The Hosmer & Lemeshow Test, which tests for goodness of fit for logistic regression models, was not significant for any of the regression analyses. Despite the analyses not being significant, these latter results suggest that the observed and expected values are not significantly different, indicating support for each model. Results are depicted in Tables 3 through 5.

Table 3

Logistic Regressions Predicting Ratio of School Psychologists to Students

	В	SE B	Wald's χ²	df	Cox & Snell R ²	<i>p</i> -value	e ^B (Odds Ratio)
Overall Test			3.46	3	.09	.33	
Predictors							
Constant GDP Public Spending Public Support	1.79 .00 21 .44	2.29 .00 .32 .71	.61 1.09 .44 .39	1 1 1		.43 .30 .51 .53	6.02 1.00 .81 1.56

Table 4

Logistic Regressions Predicting Level of Degree Offered

	В	SE B	Wald's χ²	df	Cox & Snell R ²	<i>p</i> -value	e ^B (Odds Ratio)
Overall Test			1.28	3	.03	.73	
Predictors							
Constant	.05	2.13	.00	1		.98	1.05
GDP	.00	.00	1.08	1		.30	1.00
Public Spending	17	.30	.30	1		.58	.85
Public Support	.29	.63	.21	1		.65	1.33

Table 5

Logistic Regressions Predicting Status of School Psychologists

	В	SE B	Wald's χ²	df	Cox & Snell R ²	<i>p</i> -value	e ^B (Odds Ratio)
Overall Test			2.49	3	.07	.48	
Predictors							
Constant	-2.73	2.37	1.33	1		.25	.07
GDP Public Spending	.00 .42	.00	.45 1.59	1		.50 .21	1.00 1.52
Public Support	.63	.70	.81	1		.37	1.88

T-Test Analyses

Results from the independent-samples t-test indicated that no significant differences exist in child autonomy across different levels of ratio of school psychologists to students, t(34) = 1.08, p = .29, level of degree offered, t(34) = -1.55, p = .13, and status of school psychologists, t(30) = .08, p = .94. Table 6 provides descriptive statistics (sample size, mean, and standard deviation) for each group of the three independent variables utilized in the analysis.

Table 6

Descriptive Statistics for T-test Analyses

Variable	N	M	SD
Ratio of School Psychologists (< or = to 1:2,000)	15	.47	.08
Ratio of School Psychologists (> 1:2,000)	21	.44	.11
Level of Degree Offered (None/MA)	14	.42	.09
Level of Degree Offered (MA/Specialist/Doctoral)	22	.47	.10
Status of School Psychologists (No problems)	14	.46	.10
Status of School Psychologists (Sometimes or Often Problems)	18	.46	.10

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Summary of Main Findings

The primary goals of the present study were to investigate whether GDP, percent spending on education (percent of GDP), and public support for education are associated with the ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists in 43 different countries. GDP, public spending on education, and public support of education were expected to positively predict the level of degree offered and status of school psychologists and negatively predict the ratio of school psychologists to students.

A simultaneous logistic regression design was used to examine these hypotheses. Results indicated that contrary to the hypotheses, GDP, public spending on education, and public support for education were not significant predictors of ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists.

Secondary goals were to examine whether average levels of child autonomy differ across countries with undergraduate or no training versus those with graduate level school psychology training, those with small and large ratios of school psychologists to students, and those with high versus low perceived status of school psychologists. Mean differences were expected for each of these variables. Independent samples *t*-test analyses were utilized to examine these hypotheses. No significant differences were found between mean levels of child autonomy for countries with undergraduate versus graduate level training, smaller

and larger ratios of school psychologists to students, and on comparisons of higher and lower perceived status. Each of these results will be further discussed in the sections below with respect to previous research and implications.

Ratio of School Psychologists to Students

As per the abovementioned findings, GDP, percent spending on education, and public support for education did not significantly predict ratio of school psychologists to students. Before providing a more in-depth analysis of the effect of each variable on ratio of school psychologists to students, emphasis should also be placed on the effect size when interpreting these results due to the small sample size. The results regarding the magnitude of the relationship between ratio of school psychologists to students and GDP, public spending, and public support for education reveal a small effect size (i.e., a Cox & Snell pseudo- R^2 value of .09; Cohen, 1988; small effect: r = 0.10; medium effect: r = .30; large effect: r = .50).

Gross Domestic Product

Although past research has shown that significant differences exist between lower and higher GDP countries, with higher GDP countries having lower school psychologist to student ratios (Oakland & Cunningham, 1992), these results were not found in the current study. Given the divergent findings, it is prudent to further explore the methods and analyses used in the current and previous study. Regarding the methods, the Oakland & Cunningham study was conducted more than twenty years ago with changes occurring since that time

with respect to the number of practicing school psychologists (see for instance Jimerson, Oakland, & Farrell, 2007b and Saigh & Oakland, 1989). Regarding the analyses, non-parametric chi-square tests were conducted by Oakland and Cunningham to examine median differences between ratios of school psychologists to students in lower and higher GDP countries, whereas the current study utilized logistic regression analyses. Oakland and Cunningham indicated that they utilized median instead of mean values to enable them to determine qualities within countries instead of aggregating data and determining averages for all countries (p. 107). Although both studies had similar goals of investigating GDP differences with respect to ratios of school psychologists, the different methods and analytical strategies may have yielded discrepant results. With respect to the results of the current study, both the lowest and highest ratios of school psychologists to students exist in lower GDP countries (Grenada and Pakistan; See Appendix B). Although it is impossible to make direct conclusions as to why one lower GDP country may have a high ratio and the other a low ratio based on the data examined in this study, previous research (Jimerson et al., 2006) has suggested that countries reporting small ratios may have fewer school psychologists in their country, with ratios solely reflecting the number of students seen by school psychologists and not those without access to school psychological services.

Percent Spending on Education

Although past research in the field of school psychology has emphasized

comparisons between higher and lower GDP countries, the influence of the percent of GDP spent on education had not been examined. Because research has shown that there is less spending on education and higher ratios in countries with lower GDP (Barro, 1991; Oakland & Cunningham, 1992), one may assume that countries with higher ratios of school psychologists to students may invest less money into public education. However, the results of the current study did not find significant differences in public spending on education with respect to higher and lower ratios of school psychologists to students. Grenada, a low-ratio country, invests an average amount on public education (4.9%), whereas Pakistan, the country with the highest ratio, invests a low percentage of their GDP on public education (see Appendix B). The ratio for the country spending the least on public education (Lebanon) is large (1: 730, 214) as there are no school psychologists in the country, and the country spending the most (Denmark) has a low ratio of school psychologists to students (1: 769). On the other hand, Jamaica spends a large amount on public education, yet has a high ratio of school psychologists to students (1: 400,000), and Turkey invests a low percentage into public education yet has a small ratio (1: 835). Consequently, this visual inspection yields inconsistent results when examining differences between higher and lower ratio countries with respect to public spending, which may provide some insight into why significant associations were not found between these variables.

Public Support for Education

Similar to GDP and percent spending in education, public support for education did not significantly predict ratios of school psychologists to students. Past research solely utilizing descriptive statistics has yielded mixed results, with some countries that report a lack of support for education having small ratios (e.g., Russia), and others endorsing this lack of support having larger ratios (e.g., Germany; Jimerson et al., 2006, 2010). Similar to Jimerson and colleagues, visual inspection of the data of the present study suggests inconsistent findings with respect to public support for education (See Appendices C & D). For example, Estonia "often" has problems with public support for education, yet has a small ratio of 1: 800 school psychologists to students. On the other hand, consistent with the original hypothesis in this study, Grenada is a country with a low ratio that "never" has any problems with public support for education.

Level of Degree Offered

Along the same lines as ratio of school psychologists to students and contrary to the hypothesis, GDP, percent spending on education, and public support for education did not significantly predict level of degree offered. With respect to effect size (Cox & Snell pseudo-R² value of .03), the overall regression equation predicting level of degree offered revealed that the magnitude of the relationship between level of degree offered and GDP, public spending, and public support for education is small (Cohen, 1988).

Gross Domestic Product

The results of the current study are not consistent with those of Oakland & Cunningham (1992), whose findings suggest that higher GDP countries have more graduate than undergraduate level training programs. Key differences also exist across the two studies with respect to level of training offered. First, Oakland and Cunningham only included countries with available training in their analysis, whereas the current study also included countries without training, grouping them with those offering undergraduate level training. Furthermore, at the time that their data was collected, there were reportedly few school psychology doctoral programs offered. These researchers noted that those countries examined in their study typically had more than one master-level program but no doctoral level training (p. 109). In the current study, 28% of the countries specified having "no" training in school psychology and 30% reported having doctoral level training. Consequently, these two groups contribute valuable information not only to the analyses, but also about the availability of school psychology training throughout the world. More specifically, a visual examination of lower and higher GDP countries included in this study indicated that both higher and lower GDP countries offer graduate level training, with some higher GDP countries providing no training in this field (See Appendices C & D). For example, Romania and Vietnam are examples of lower GDP countries that offer doctoral (Romania) and master's (Vietnam) training in school psychology, whereas higher GDP countries such as Finland and Austria do not provide

training. At the same time, other higher GDP countries (e.g., Canada, United States, and Hong Kong) offer doctoral level training, and lower GDP countries such as India do not have training. This visual examination contributes valuable information as to why GDP may not have been a significant predictor of level of degree offered in the current study, as there does not appear to be a consistent difference between countries with respect to level of training.

Differences exist in data analysis conducted between the two studies. For this specific variable, Oakland and Cunningham provided descriptive statistics on the number of programs offered in each degree level in both lower and higher GDP countries and do not make comparisons based on quantitative results. The fact that the current study did not provide these statistics and only examined whether countries had undergraduate or graduate level training could be seen as a limitation; however, grouping countries based on level of degree offered and conducting the regression analyses enabled direct comparisons of training offered across lower and higher GDP countries. Although these results are more consistent with the research conducted by Jimerson and colleagues (e.g., Jimerson et al., 2004; 2006), we cannot draw direct conclusions based on these similarities since quantitative analyses were not conducted in their research.

Percent Spending on Education

Similar to the results for ratios of school psychologists to students, percent spending in education did not significantly predict level of degree offered across countries. Visual inspection of the data suggests that some countries with no

doctoral level training such as Turkey invest a low percentage of their GDP (2.9%) into education, whereas others such as Jamaica and Belize invest higher percentages (See Appendix B). Furthermore, the country with the lowest (Lebanon) and highest (Denmark) percent investment in public education offers Master's level training. As highlighted above, despite the amount of available resources allocated into education, countries may see the advantage and need for graduate level training in school psychology. However, the current study categorized countries into having "none or bachelor" or "masters/specialist or doctoral" level training and did not examine the number of training programs available at each level. The percent spent on education may affect the number of advanced training programs offered within a country.

Public Support for Education

Previous research that examined potential relationships among levels of training offered and public support for education has yielded mixed results, with some showing that lower degree levels may be available in countries that report less public support for education (e.g., Russia), whereas others with higher level of training provided endorse a lack of support for education (Germany; Jimerson et al., 2006). Results of the current study suggest that greater levels of public support for education do not predict whether a country will have undergraduate or graduate training. The country included in Table 2 as an example of having low ratings of public support for education (Brazil) offers doctoral level training, whereas the country endorsing high ratings (Jamaica) does not provide training in

school psychology. Furthermore, other countries providing graduate level training in school psychology such as Malta and Estonia also endorse a lack of support for public education (See Appendix C). Consequently, based on the results of the present study, it appears that lack of support for public education exists in countries regardless of level of degree provided.

Status of School Psychologists

The below findings also differed from the hypothesis; GDP, percent spending on education, and public support for education do not predict the status of school psychologists. With respect to effect size for the overall regression equation predicting status of school psychologists, the Cox & Snell pseudo-R² value of .07 suggests that the magnitude of the relationship between level of degree offered and GDP, public spending, and public support for education is small (Cohen, 1988), which is consistent with the non-significant regression results.

Gross Domestic Product

There are not associations between the status of school psychologists and GDP. Once again, this is unlike previous research (Oakland & Cunningham, 1992), whose findings indicate that lower GDP countries perceive low status of school psychologists as being a greater threat than higher GDP countries. As previously noted, it is important to acknowledge the different analyses conducted in both studies, with Oakland and Cunningham utilizing median values to examine country-specific qualities, and this study evaluating overall significant

GDP differences based on lower and higher levels of perceived status of school psychologists. Visual inspection of the current results (See Appendices C & D) suggests that Brazil, a country "often" reporting problems regarding the status of their school psychologists, also has a below average level of GDP (\$11,600) when compared to the GDP of other countries. On the other hand, reports from Ireland, a country with a higher than average GDP (\$39,500), suggest that there are "never" any concerns with the status of their school psychologists. However, other countries with higher GDP such as Belgium, Canada, and the United States also report that concerns regarding the status of school psychologists "sometimes" exist. The results of the present study suggest that other factors outside of GDP may be influencing the degree to which status of school psychologists is seen as a problem in a particular country. Possible influencing factors with respect to GDP, percent spending on education, and public support for education are further discussed in the future directions section of this study.

Percent Spending on Education

Although previous research described above suggests that the status of school psychologists is greater in higher GDP countries (Oakland & Cunningham, 1992), the effect of percent spending on education on the status of school psychologists has not yet been examined in the literature. These results suggest that public spending on education does not predict the status of school psychologists. For example, visual inspection of the data suggests that Lebanon, a country that invests minimal funding into education, "never" has problems with

the status of its school psychologists, and Denmark, the country investing the most into education, "sometimes" has problems (See Appendices C & D). Visual inspection also suggests that issues appear to arise with the status of school psychologists in countries investing both a lower and higher amount into education, which is consistent with the results of the regression analysis.

Although one should not make sound conclusions based on these preliminary findings and future research should examine the effect of public spending on education on status and other school psychological variables, they still provide valuable information, suggesting that how school psychologists are perceived may not be directly influenced by available funding for educational services.

However, some other variables, such as percent spending on school psychological or special education services, may have a more direct effect on the status of school psychologists, with public spending on education indirectly affecting their status. Furthermore, the present study solely examined differences between those countries "never" having a problem compared to those "sometimes" and "always" having a problem. Although this was logical grouping for the purposes of the present study, it may also be interesting to examine differences between all three groups.

Public Support for Education

When surveying school psychologists in different countries, Oakland and Saigh (1989) found that many professionals perceived themselves as having low prestige, with restrictions being placed on their services by the public and

educators. Furthermore, Oakland and Cunningham (1992) discovered that respondents from various countries endorsed status of school psychologists and support for education as being a problem. However, this previous research did not directly examine the effect of public support for education on the status of school psychologists. The results of this study suggest that these two variables are not associated. As noted above, some outside variable may have a more direct influence on the status of school psychologists. For example, in countries where school psychology is not well developed and professionals with degrees in other areas of psychology perform the duties of school psychologists, their status may be more related to the presence and support for psychology within the country instead of public education. Although the status of school psychology was linked to the status of psychology in one of the questions asked in the survey and included in the status of school psychologists composite, it would be noteworthy to separate this information into two separate variables to determine a possible effect of support for psychology on the status of school psychologists.

Child Autonomy

Unlike the original hypotheses, significant mean differences were not found between countries with lower and higher ratios of school psychologists, undergraduate and graduate training, and lower and higher status of school psychologists with respect to child autonomy. Although previous school psychology research has not directly examined child autonomy, findings have suggested that countries with low professional autonomy have low status of

school psychologists (Cunningham, 2007) and that self-expression values, which research has shown to be similar to autonomy (Welzel & Inglehart, 2009), are significantly associated with the presence of school psychology (Cook et al., 2010). Therefore, the present study attempted to expand upon past research by examining whether differences also exist with child autonomy, yet these findings suggest that this may not be the case.

Similar to the regression analyses, calculating the effect size for each of the variables utilized in the t-test analyses provides useful information on the magnitude of relationship with child autonomy. Because means and standard deviations were used to calculate these effect sizes, Cohen's 1988 interpretation that d=0.2 (small effect), d=0.5 (medium effect), and d=0.8 (large effect) was used for these analyses. Both ratio of school psychologists to students and level of degree offered yielded a small effect (.3). Because the means and standard deviations were equivalent for status of school psychologists, an effect size was not yielded for this variable (effect size = 0). Consequently, these small effect sizes are consistent with the t-test analyses, suggesting that only a small relationship exists between child autonomy and the abovementioned variables.

One explanation for these results may be that child autonomy is viewed differently across countries and may not always be seen as a positive attribute in countries where the presence of school psychology is strong. This is consistent with Lundy's (2007) statement that some countries are skeptical about children having rights related to autonomy, fearing that such rights may undermine

authority and lead to less structure at school. This may also be an explanation for the similar mean values (Table 6) found across both groups for ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists, which were all similar to the overall mean for child autonomy (Table 2). It is possible that child autonomy may not distinguish between high and low groups on these variables and that countries with varying levels of child autonomy existed in both groups. Furthermore, although child autonomy represented one aspect of child advocacy in the present study, it would be informative to collect data specifically examining child advocacy to determine if it affects the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology.

Limitations and Future Directions

Despite the fact that the current study has contributed to past research examining the field of international school psychology, it is not without its limitations. These limitations provide valuable insight into the challenges of conducting research at an international level and may guide future research in this area. Most importantly, the small sample size and consequently low power should be taken into account when interpreting the results of this study. Although attempts were made to obtain data from affiliates in 62 countries, 47 professionals responded to the survey, with the complete data of 43 countries being used for the analyses. However, because school psychology is only present in 83 countries, over 50 percent of the countries were recruited. Furthermore, the sample size of previous research examining international psychology (N = 54; Oakland &

Cunningham, 1992) was only slightly larger than that of the current study. However, because of the small sample size, there were limits on the types of analyses that could be conducted, which may have in turn influenced the non-significant findings of this study. Although research to date examining international school psychology has only included countries where school psychology is present in their sample, future research should also examine key differences (e.g., GDP, percent spending in education, child autonomy) with the 109 countries where the specialty does not exist. This would yield a larger sample size and enable for more complex statistical analyses from which additional conclusions can be drawn for research and practice.

A third limitation is the main method of data collection utilized in the present study. More specifically, information on the field of school psychology was obtained through survey format with responses being based on the professionals' perceptions. However, all previous research examining school psychology at an international level also used surveys to obtain this information. Furthermore, it was a professional with requisite knowledge in school psychology, in conjunction with other country school psychologists, who completed the survey, therefore increasing the probability that the responses accurately reflected school psychology within their country. Finally, information retrieved from this survey was also triangulated from multiple sources (e.g., email follow-ups with the respondents, data obtained in recent published works, and direct computations based on available data) to ensure its validity. Data

triangulation was particularly imperative for ratios of school psychologists to students, as some of the original estimates of ratios of school psychologists to students were drastically lower than the ratios computed based on the number of school-age children and school psychologists in the country. One reason for this difference may be that there is often a fine line between who is and is not considered a school psychologist in some countries, with some professionals with degrees in other areas of psychology and education engaging in educational interventions and other school psychological duties. To ensure accuracy of responses and account for within-country variations across locations (e.g., rural versus urban areas), future research may also wish to disseminate questionnaires to various professionals in each country and aggregate data based on these multiple perceptions.

Another limitation of the current study is that due to the use of logistic regression analyses, the dependent variables were dichotomized since continuous data cannot be predicted through this method. Although this grouping method was necessary for the purpose of these analyses, categorizing them into two "low" and "high" groups lost key information. Furthermore, along with sample size, the combination of categorical and discrete dichotomized variables also yields less power. For example, Oakland and Cunningham (1992) examined the number of programs in each country available at different degree levels, whereas we dichotomized them into two groups having undergraduate and graduate level training. As previously stated, available doctoral level training in multiple

countries (28%) has increased within the past two decades since Oakland and Cunningham conducted their research, with the percent availability of doctoral training being similar to the availability of master level training (30%) and no training in school psychology (28%). Consequently, it would be interesting for future research to examine differences across all levels of training, to differentiate between countries providing no and bachelor only training, and those providing master/specialist and doctoral level training. Furthermore, despite having grouped countries based on ratios below and above 1:2,000, it is possible that significant differences in GDP, percent of spending on education, and status of school psychologists exist in countries with very small and large ratios. If possible due to assumption and sample size restrictions, future research should conduct other inferential analyses such as linear regressions using continuous variables to determine whether significant ratio differences exist on the previously mentioned variables, or chi-square analyses as utilized by Oakland and Cunningham (1992). The latter analyses would enable more direct comparisons to determine whether differences in findings between their research and the current study are due to changes in the field of school psychology since the 1980's or the type of analyses conducted.

A final limitation to the current study is the sole use of external and not internal variables to school psychology when examining key predictors of its presence, preparation, and practice. As previously mentioned, factors that are more internal to school psychology (e.g., percent spending on school psychology

or special education services, public support for school psychological services) may have a more direct influence. However, because the field of school psychology is relatively new in some countries and many people are not aware of the roles and responsibilities of school psychologists even in countries where it is well developed, it may be more difficult to obtain this information. Therefore, future research utilizing inferential statistics should examine other available data internal to the field, such as whether a country has established school psychological organizations (Cook, Jimerson, & Begeny, 2010), the variety of coursework offered in degree programs, and requirements for professional development.

Along these same lines, future research should examine some of the more intricate details of what contributes to the profession of school psychology. For example, the results of this study suggest that perceptions of ratios often varied due to differences in definitions of school psychologists across countries.

Specific comparisons across countries in definitions of school psychologists, as well as the type of students who are eligible to receive school psychological services should therefore be examined. It would also be informative to more specifically examine the effect that various school psychological services have on the well-being of students, to determine whether positive outcomes are actually due to these services, or if they are instead due to other variables such as a country's view of child advocacy.

Despite the non-significant results of the present study, the fact that

external factors such as GDP, percent spending on education, and public support for education may not have a direct effect on ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists is positive for the field of school psychology. These results suggest that there may be other internal variables within direct control that may be influencing differences across countries. However, future research utilizing the abovementioned and other internal variables to obtain more information on what can be done to further develop the field of school psychology at an international level is needed.

Implications for Practice

The results of the current study provide valuable information regarding implications for practice. More specifically, the non-significant findings suggest that internal variables related to the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology may not be directly influenced by external variables that cannot be controlled by the field of school psychology. However, given the limitations of this study (i.e., small sample and low power), additional quantitative research in this area is warranted. This is encouraging evidence, as factors such as GDP and percent spending on education cannot be easily modified and are typically consistent for long periods of time. Greater focus should therefore instead be spent on further developing key aspects such as credentialing requirements and other regulations, professional associations, and university training programs in countries where school psychology is present, and promoting the effectiveness and utility of its services in countries where the specialty does not yet exist.

Although such actions may seem monumental, there are various steps that professionals can take to further promote the development of school psychology around the world. Because effective widespread change often requires the involvement of numerous professionals, multiple levels of action can be taken. For example, it may be beneficial and necessary for country professionals in school psychology to collaborate with government officials such as political leaders, the ministry of education, and other relevant administrators when promoting and expanding the field of school psychology within their or another country. Similar to other international research, it is vital that international experts from different countries be sensitive to cultural viewpoints and acknowledge that one model of school psychology may not be appropriate for all contexts. Although experts in countries with more established school psychological services might be more knowledgeable about the field itself, professionals within countries are experts on what practices and training models may be the most appropriate within the context of their country.

Furthermore, countries with limited presence of school psychology may benefit from using models of ethical standards, credentialing requirements, and national organizations already developed in more advanced countries. Although future research is needed to examine their direct effect on the presence, preparation, and practice of school psychology, past research has shown that only 29 of the 83 countries had licensing or credential requirements, and 39 had established professional organizations (Jimerson, Skokut, et al., 2008). Data from

this study also showed that 63% of countries surveyed have ratios of school psychologists to students that are greater than 1:2,000 with some countries having no or few school psychologists, indicating the need to further develop school psychological training programs around the world and increase the number of practicing school psychologists.

Finally, despite the fact that the current study only focused on public support for and percent spending on education, there are other more manageable areas that can be targeted at the education level. For example, fostering the understanding of individual differences and development of special education services may be useful in countries that view school psychological services as being provided to a small population of students with more severe difficulties. This may be done through direct services such as individual workshops and trainings, or at a more indirect level, by working with officials within the ministry of education and offering them examples of effective models of special education already existing in other countries having similar values and education system.

Summary and Conclusions

The findings of this research study contribute to the advancement of school psychology at an international level as they provide information that will inform one's understanding of current efforts to offer services to schools and students with various needs. Results suggest that factors external to school psychology such as GDP, percent spending on education, and public support for education do not predict the ratio of school psychologist to students, level of

degree offered, and status of school psychologists within a country. Furthermore, significant mean differences were not found on higher and lower levels of ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychology with respect to child autonomy.

These results are unlike those of past research showing significant differences between lower and higher GDP countries with respect to ratio of school psychologists to students, level of degree offered, and status of school psychologists (Oakland & Cunningham, 1992), as well as those indicating significant relations among autonomy and the presence of school psychology (Cook et al., 2010). On the other hand, they are similar to other research yielding mixed findings in these areas (e.g., Jimerson et al., 2007). The current study expanded upon past research, by examining the effect of child autonomy and percent spending on education, and utilizing inferential analyses with data collected within the past five years. However, future research is still needed to provide a more in-depth analysis of the direct influence of variables internal to school psychology and compare countries where school psychology is present to those where the specialty does not exist. Along with the findings from this study, additional research is warranted to further inform one's knowledge about university training, practice, and challenges of school psychology, to generate information on how training may inform practice at an international level and how it may vary according to individual country conditions.

REFERENCES

- Barro, R. J. (1991). Economic growth in a cross section of countries. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106, 407-443. Retrieved from http://qje.oxfordjournals.org
- Catterall, C. (1982). International school psychology: problems and promises. In C. R. Reynolds & T. B. Gutkin (Eds.), *The handbook of school psychology* (pp. 1103-1128). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Central Intelligence Agency (2012). The World Factbook page on Country

 Comparison, Section: GDP. In 2012 World Factbook [Online database].

 Retrieved August 22, 2012, from

 https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2001rank.html
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, C. P., Erickson, M., Flekkoy, M., & Hart, S. (1999). Children's rights in education: An international conference and an open file. *Prospects, XXIX,*1-16. Retrieved from

 http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/archive/publications/Prospects/ProspectsOpenFiles/pr110ofe.pdf
- Cook, C. R., Jimerson, S. R., & Begeny, J. C. (2010). A model for predicting the presence of school psychology: An international examination of sociocultural, sociopolitical, and socioeconomic influences. *School*

- Psychology International, 31, 438–461. doi:10.1177/0143034310377580
- Cunningham, J. L. (2007). Centripetal and centrifugal trends influencing school psychology's international development. In S. R. Jimerson, T. D. Oakland, & P. T. Farrell (Eds.), *The handbook of international school psychology* (pp. 453-462). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cunningham, J. L., & Oakland, T. (1997). International School Psychology

 Association guidelines for the preparation of school psychologists. *School Psychology International*, *19*, 19-30. doi: 10.1177/014303439819100
- Curtis, M. J., Lopez, A. D., Castillo, J. M., Batsche, G. M., Minch, D., & Smith, J. C. (2008). The status of school psychology: Demographic characteristics, employment conditions, professional practices, and continuing professional development. *Communique*, *36*. Retrieved from http://www.nasponline.org/publications/cq/36/5/sp_status.aspx.
- Curtis, M. J., Hunley, S. A., & Chesno Grier, E. (2004). The status of school psychology: Implications of a major personnel shortage. *Psychology in the Schools*, *41*, 431-442. doi: 10.1002/pits.10186
- Daniels, B. (2010). Developing inclusive policy and practice in diverse contexts:

 A South African experience. *School Psychology International*, *31*, 631-643. doi: 10.1177/0143034310386536
- Gupta, S., Verhoeven, M., & Tiongson, E. R. (2002). The effectiveness of government spending on education and health care in developing and transition economies. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 18, 717-

- 737. doi:10.1016/S0176-2680(02)00116-7
- Guthrie, J. W. (1990). The evolving political economy of education and the implications for educational evaluation. *Educational Review*, *42*, 109-131. doi: 10.1080/0013191900420203
- Inglehart, R. (1997). Modernization and post-modernization: Cultural, economic, and political change in 43 societies. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Inglehart, R., & Welzel, C. (2005). *Modernization, cultural change, and democracy: The human development sequence*. New York, NY:

 Cambridge University Press.
- Ingelhart, R. & Welzel, C. (2009, March). Development and democracy: What we know about modernization today. *Foreign Affairs*, *5*, 33-41. Retrieved from http://www.foreignaffairs.com
- Jimerson, S. R., Alghorani, M. A., Darweish, A. H., & Abdelaziz, M. (2010).
 School psychology in Egypt: Results of the 2008 International School
 Psychology Survey. School Psychology International, 31, 219-228. doi:
 10.1177/0143034310366413.
- Jimerson, S. R., Graydon, K., Curtis, M. J., & Staskal, R. (2007a). The international school psychology survey: Insights from school psychologists around the world. In S. R.
- Jimerson, T. D. Oakland, & P. T. Farrell (Eds.), *The handbook of international school psychology* (pp. 481-500). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications,

Inc.

- Jimerson, S. R., Graydon, K., Farrell, P., Kikas, E., Hatzichristou, C., Boce, E.,
 Bashi, G., & the ISPA Research Committee (2004). The International
 School Psychology Survey: Development and data from Albania, Cyprus,
 Estonia, Greece, and Northern England. *School Psychology International*,
 25, 259-286. doi: 10.1177/0143034304046901
- Jimerson, S. R., Graydon, K., Skokut, M., Alghorani, M. A., Kanjaradze, A., Forster, J., & the ISPA Research Committee. (2008). The International School Psychology Survey: Data from Georgia, Switzerland, and the United Arab Emirates. *School Psychology International*, 29, 5-28. doi: 10.1177/0143034307088501
- Jimerson, S. R., Graydon, K., Yuen, M., Lam, S. F., Thurm, J. M., Klueva, N., ... The ISPA Research Committee (2006). The International School Psychology Survey: Data from Australia, China, Germany, Italy, and Russia. *School Psychology International*, 27, 5-32. doi: 10.1177/0143034306062813
- Jimerson, S. R., & ISPA Research Committee (2002). *The International School Psychology Survey*. Available from author at the University of California, Santa Barbara <jimerson@education.ucsb.edu>.
- Jimerson, S. R., & Oakland, T. D. (2007). *School Psychology International*Survey. Available from the author at the University of California, Santa

 Barbara <jimerson@education.ucsb.edu>.

- Jimerson, S. R., Oakland, T. D., & Farrell, P. T. (2007). Introduction to the handbook of international school psychology. In S. R. Jimerson, T. D.
 Oakland, & P. T. Farrell (Eds.), *The handbook of international school psychology* (pp. 1-4). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Jimerson, S. R., Oakland, T. D., & Farrell, P. T. (Eds.). (2007b). The handbook of international school psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Jimerson, S. R., Skokut, M., Cardenas, S., Malone, H., & Stewart, K. (2008).

 Where in the world is school psychology? Examining evidence of school psychology around the globe. *School Psychology International*, *29*, 131-144. doi: 10.1177/0143034308090056
- Jimerson, S. R., Stewart, K., Skokut, M., Cardenas, S., & Malone, H. (2009).
 How many school psychologists are there in each country of the world?
 International estimates of school psychologists and school psychologist-to-student ratios. *School Psychology International*, 30, 555-567. doi: 10.1177/0143034309107077
- Lundy, L. (2007). Voice is not enough: Conceptualising Article 12 of the United Nations convention on the rights of the child. *British Educational Research Journal*, *33*, 927-942. doi: 10.1080/01411920701657033
- Moav, O. (2005). Cheap children and the persistence of poverty. *The Economic Journal*, 115, 88-110. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/(ISSN)1468-0297.

- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric theory* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Oakland, T. D. (2003). International school psychology: Psychology's worldwide portal to children and youth. *American Psychologist*, *58*, 985-992. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.58.11.985
- Oakland, T. D., & Cunningham, J. L. (1992). A survey of school psychology in developed and developing countries. *School Psychology International*, *13*, 99-129. doi: 10.1177/0143034392132001
- Oakland, T. D., Goldman, S., & Bischoff, H. (1997). Code of ethics of the International School Psychology Association. *School Psychology International*, *18*, 291-298. doi:10.1177/0143034397184001
- Oakland, T. D., & Jimerson, S. R. (in press). History and current status of school psychology internationally. In A. Thomas & P. Harrison (Eds.), *Best Practices in School Psychology (6th ed.)*. Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Oakland, T. D., & Jimerson, S. R. (2007). School psychology internationally: A retrospective view and influential conditions. In S. R. Jimerson, T. D. Oakland, & P. T. Farrell (Eds.), *The handbook of international school psychology* (pp. 453-462). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Oakland, T. D., & Jimerson, S. R. (2008). History and current status of school psychology internationally. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best*

- Practices in School Psychology (5th ed.). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Oakland, T. D., & Saigh, P. A. (1989). Psychology in the schools: An introduction to international perspectives. In P. A. Saigh & T. Oakland (Eds.), *International perspectives on psychology in the schools*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Patel, V., Flisher, A. J., Nikapota, A., & Malhotra, S. (2008). Promoting child and adolescent mental health in low and middle income countries. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49, 313-334. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01824.x
- Pettersson, T. (2003). Basic values and civic education: A comparative analysis of adolescent orientation towards gender equality and good citizenship.

 Retrieved from

 http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/wvs/articles/folder_published/publication-504
- Saigh, P. A., & Oakland, T. (Eds.). (1989). *International perspectives on psychology in the schools*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using Multivariate Statistics, 5th ed.*Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon. United Nations Educational and Cultural Organization/International Bureau of Education (1948). *School Psychologists* (Publication No. 105). Paris: UNESCO/IBE. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001258/125815eo.pdf

- Wall, W. D. (1956). Psychological services for schools (Publication No. 3).
 Hamburg, Germany: UNESCO Institute for Education. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001316/131603eo.pdf
- Welzel, C. & Inglehart, R. (2008). The role of ordinary people in democratization. *Journal of Democracy*, 10, 126-140. doi:10.1353/jod.2008.0009
- Welzel, C., & Inglehart, R. (2009). Political culture, mass beliefs, and value change. In C. W. Haerpfer (Ed), *Democratization*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Welzel, C. (2010). How selfish are self-expression values? A civicness test. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 41,* 152-174. doi:

 10.1177/0022022109354378.
- World Bank Group (2012). The World Bank page on public spending on education, total % of GDP. In 2012 World Bank [Online database].

 Retrieved October 6, 2012, from

 http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.XPD.TOTL.GD.ZS?page=1
- World Values Survey Association. (2011). World Values Survey: Integrated questionnaire (1981-2008). Retrieved from http://www.asep-sa.org/wvs/wvs_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1981-2008/WVS_1
- World Values Survey Association (2009). World Values Survey 1981-2008

 official aggregate v.20090901 (Data file). Retrieved from

 http://www.wvsevsdb.com/wvs/WVSData.jsp

APPENDIX A

School Psychology International Survey

2007 By Shane R. Jimerson and Thomas D. Oakland

I. Preliminary Information

The following questions provide information about you.
1. Your name:
2. Your E-mail address:
3. Your Mailing address:
 4. Indicate your most advanced degree (and indicate your major): O Bachelor's degree: 3 years O Bachelor's degree: 4 years O Bachelor's degree +1 year of specialization O Master's degree O Specialist's degree (= Master's degree + 1 or 2 years) O Doctoral degree
4a. Please indicate your major:
5. Describe your current professional positions (indicate number of years in each position):
6. For how many years have you been associated with professional school psychology? (please round to the nearest year)
 7. Some items require you to indicate monetary amounts, please consistently use either DOLLARS, EUROS, or POUNDS, please indicate which you will use: ○ Dollars \$ ○ Euros € ○ Pounds £
II. Cahaal Bayahalagigal Camiaga

II. School Psychological Services

The questions in this section are designed to describe and identify

the activities that generally characterize school psychologists and school psychological services in your country.

Demographic characteristics of school psychologists

))	at is their average age, in general? 25-34 35-44 45-55 55+
9. Wh	at is the percent who are females?% female
school	hat is the average number of years they generally serve as I psychologists before seeking other work or retiring? 0-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40+
11. W count	hat is the number of school psychologists employed in your y?
	hat is their average yearly gross income—the amount of y one earns before deducting for taxes, retirement, and s?
_	kindly use currency you noted in question 7
0	hat is the average number of weeks they work yearly? 1 2 3 4 5 6

- **o** 7
- 8 C
- **O** 9
- **O** 10
- **O** 11
- **O** 12
- **O** 13
- **O** 14
- **O** 15
- **O** 16
- **O** 17
- O 18
- **O** 19 **O** 20
- **O** 21
- **O** 22
- **O** 23
- **O** 24
- **O** 25
- **O** 26 **O** 27
- **O** 28
- **O** 29 **3**0
- **O** 31
- **3**2
- **3**3
- **3**4
- **3**5
- **3**6
- **O** 37
- **3**8
- **O** 39
- **O** 40
- **O** 41
- **O** 42
- **O** 43
- **O** 44
- **O** 45
- **O** 46
- **O** 47
- **O** 48
- **O** 49
- **O** 50

5152
14. What is the percent whose highest degree / years of studies is? bachelor's degree: 3 years of study% bachelor's degree: 4 years of study% bachelor's degree + 1 year for a professional credential% master's degree% specialist's degree% doctoral degree%
15. What is the percent who belong to one or more professional associations? a national association% an international association% The International School Psychology Association%
16. In those schools that provide school psychology services, what is the typical ratio between the number of students and one school psychologist? 1 to
17. What language(s), other than your national language(s), are most school psychologists proficient in? Amharic American Sign Language Arabic Armenian Assyrian Asturian Azerbaijani Bahasa (Indonesia) Basque Bengali Berber Bikol Bosnian Breton Bulgarian Burmese Cambodian (Khmer) Cantonese (Chinese) Catalan Cherokee (Native

	A \
_	American)
0	Creole
\mathbf{O}	Croatian
0	Czech
O	Danish
$\tilde{\mathbf{O}}$	Danish Dutch
$\tilde{\mathbf{O}}$	English
\sim	Fotonian
0	Estonian
0	Farsi (Persian)
O	Fijian
O	Finnish
\mathbf{O}	French
\mathbf{O}	French Frisian
\mathbf{O}	Gaelic (Irish)
0	Galician Georgian
Ō	Georgian
$\tilde{\mathbf{O}}$	German
$\tilde{\mathbf{O}}$	Greek
	Cujarati
	Gujarati
0	Hawaiian
0	Hebrew
0	Hindi
	Hmong
\mathbf{O}	Hokkien
\mathbf{O}	Holooe Hungarian
\mathbf{O}	Hungarian
\mathbf{O}	lbo
0	Icelandic
0	Ido
Ō	Ilocano, Iloko
	Indonesian
	Interlingua
Ö	Irish
0	
	lananaa
O	Japanese
0	
O	Khmer (Cambodian)
O	Konkani
0	
\mathbf{O}	
O	
O	Lithuanian
0	
Ō	•
-	- , · ·

0	Malaysian
0	Mandarin (Chinese)
0	
0	
0	Mien
O	Nahuati
Ö	
O	Norwegian
Ö	
Ö	
Ō	
	Portugese (Brazil)
0	
0	
0	
	American)
0	Romanian
0	Russian
0	Serbain
	Serbian
O	Sesotho
0	Sindhi
O	Sinhala
	Sioux (Native
	American)
0	Slovak
0	Slovenian
0	Somali
0	Spanish
	(Latin & South
	Àmerica)
0	Spanish (Spain)
0	Swahili
\bigcirc	Swedish
Ō	Tagalog
Ō	Taiwanese
O	Tamil
O	Tatar
O	Telugu
000000	Teochew (Chao
•	Chow)
O	•
O	
0	Toisan
•	i Giodii

 Turkish Twi Ukrainian Urdu Vietnamese Visayan Welsh Xhosa Yiddish Yoruba Zulu Other 			
18. What are the titles commonly used Assistant Psychologist Associate Psychologist Counselor Educational Psychologist Psychologist Psychologist Psychological Technician School Psychologist	d by school p O Yes	O No	
18a. Other, not listed above:			
19. Are there one or more generally a psychological services in your country O Yes O No	•	nitions for schoo	ol
19a. Please provide the definitions an	d their source	es:	
20. Are there one or more generally a psychologists in your country?YesNo	ccepted defir	nitions for schoo	l
20a. Please provide the definitions an	d their source	es:	
School psychologists differ in some of indicate the extent to which the follow psychologists in your country.			

:		
O rarely	O sometimes	3
O often		
O rarely	Sometime	:S
O often		
O rarely	Sometime	s
O often		
O rarely	Sometime	:S
O often		
O rarely	O sometime	s
O often		
O rarely	O sometime	s
O often		
ed:		
•		
•		
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
, O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	Ooften
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
,		
•		
,		
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
O rarely	O sometimes	O often
	O rarely O often O rarely	O rarely O sometimes O often O rarely O sometimes

heart rate, skin moisture) other, not listed above	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
22a. If other, please specify:			
23. Intervention Methods: anxiety (including test anxiety)	○ rarely	O sometimes	
reduction classroom management	Ooften O rarely O often	O sometimes	
community-based services		O sometimes	
consultation with administrators	O rarely O often	O sometimes	
consultation with teachers	O rarely O often	O sometimes	
conflict management	O rarely Ooften	O sometimes	
crisis intervention	rarelyoften	O sometimes	
develop basic academic skill	O rarely O often	O sometimes	
educational remediation	O rarely O often	O sometimes	
group counseling	O often	O sometimes	
individual counseling	O often	O sometimes	
in-service education	O often	O sometimes	
leadership training	O often	O sometimes	
marital and family counseling	O often	O sometimes	
organizational change	O often	O sometimes	
parent education	O often	O sometimes	
personal-social development	Ooften	O sometimes	
school-community improvement	O rarely O often	O sometimes	
supervision		O sometimes	
•		· · · · ·	

	O	often		
systems and organizational	•	rarely	O sometii	mes
development	\mathbf{O}	often		
vocational development	\mathbf{O}	rarely	O sometii	mes
·	\mathbf{O}	often		
other, not listed above	•	rarely	O sometii	mes
	O	often		
23a. If other, please specify:				
24. Theoretical base for practice	e:			
behavioral		arely	O some	times
		often		
client-centered		arely	O some	times
		often		
cognitive/behavioral		arely	O some	times
3		often		
humanistic	O r	arely	O some	times
		often		
psychoanalytic	O r	arely	O some	times
	\circ	often		
no strong theoretical	O r	arely	O some	times
orientation	O (often		
other, not listed above		arely	O some	times
	O (often		
24a If other places exceit "				
24a. If other, please specify:				
25. To what extent does the wo	rk of schoo	n nevel	nologiete i	involve
students with the following disor			_	
with the students with these dis				
parents:	oracio or w	vidi dic	ii todonoi	5 dila/oi
attention/hyperactivity	O rarely	Ω so	metimes	O often
disorder	• raioly	9 00	11100111100	G OILOIT
autism spectrum	O rarely	O 50	metimes	O often
disorder	3 raiciy	9 30		Onton
behaviorally impaired	O rarely	O so	metimes	O often
emotionally impaired	O rarely		metimes	
gifted	O rarely		metimes	
hearing impaired	O rarely		metimes	
language impaired	O rarely		metimes	
learning disabled	O rarely		metimes	

mentally retarded	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
health disorders	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
physically impaired	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
recent immigrants	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
slow learners	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
socially impaired	O rarely	O sometimes	O often
visually impaired	O rarely	O sometimes	O often

26. Please indicate the extent to which the following areas constitute problems for school psychologists in your country (Orarely Osometimes Ooften):

few opportunities to confer with colleagues in school psychology few opportunities for professional advancement

few opportunities to influence decisions regarding students

low acceptance as a professional

low acceptance as a profession

low pay (compared to educators)

low pay (compared to physicians and lawyers)

low pay (compared to country's average salary)

made to assume responsibilities unrelated to their training made to assume responsibilities unrelated to school psychology supervised by persons who have little expertise in school psychology

need to make compromises between the needs of the organization and professional standards

have insufficient time to conduct assigned responsibilities

have low self-expectations and aspirations

unimportant job-related distractions

difficulty managing family and professional responsibilities school psychologists are seen as having low status by educators school psychologists are seen as having low status by

psychologists

school psychologists are seen as having low status by the public school psychologists have low status because, within the country

the status of psychology is low

school psychologists have low status because, within the country,

the status of education is low

conflicts with competing professional groups

other professional groups taking our jobs

lack of money to properly fund services

lack of political stability in the country

lack of economic stability in the country
lack of stability in the educational system
too many educational reforms
lack of public support for education
lack of leadership within the profession
conflicts of leadership within the profession
professional burnout
lack of research and evaluation
lowering standards for selecting and preparing professionals
lack of professional standards governing professional services
the more able professionals are leaving the profession
lack of reliable and valid tests
shortage of school psychologists
other

26a. If other, please specify:

27. To what extent do the following sources control school psychological services in your country?

local educational codes and policies	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
local educational decisions of a professional nature	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
local educational decisions of a political nature	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
state or regional decisions of a professional nature	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
state or regional decisions of a political nature	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
national educational legislation and codes	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
national educational decisions of a professional nature	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
national educational decisions of a political nature	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
national educational decisions of universities	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
national educational decisions of professional associations	OLittle OModerate OSignificant
national educational decisions of litigation	OLittle OModerate OSignificant

Extent of Influence

27a. If other, please specify:

The following questions examine whether the current and future numbers of school psychologists are adequate in your country.

28. Is the current numb too few adequate too many	per of school psychologists:
29. In the next 10 years likely be: O too few O adequate O too many	s, will the number of school psychologists
30. Approximately how graduate each year?	many school psychologists presently
31. Approximately how each year?	many school psychologists should graduate
	ents prepared outside of school psychology psychology, or clinical psychologists) later logists?
	e yearly salary (including fringe benefits such nt, etc.) of practicing school psychologists: annual salary
0-4	kindly use currency you noted in
5-10	question 7 kindly use currency you noted in

	question /	
11-15	kindly use current question 7	cy you noted in
16-20	kindly use currence question 7	cy you noted in
21 or more	kindly use current question 7	cy you noted in
school psychologist sees if for individual counseling in group counseling	udents (not the number of s in a month: ng for 30 or more minutes _ chologist completes an eva	<u>,</u>
provides each month: with Teachers	ensultations a school psycho er administrators	
35a. If others, please spec	cify:	
school psychologist provid	rmal programs or other pres des for parents, teachers, an , special topics or professions):	nd/or other
works on programs design	nes each month a school ps ned to promote primary prev ass to prevent future probler	vention (e.g.,
38. Average number of ho psychologist receives sup	ours each month, if any, a so ervision:	chool
(please round to the ne	earest hour):	
39. Average percent of a s	school psychologist's work t	time: % of time spent
conducting psychoeducat (including testing and repo		% of time spent

counseling students consulting with teachers/staff consulting with parents/families conducting staff training and in- service/education programs involved in research and professional writing performing in administrative responsibilities providing primary prevention programs working directly with students individually or in groups to promote achievement in other activities other Total Percentage	% % % % % %
39a. Please specify your other activities:	

III. Professional, Research and Legal Issues

The following questions are intended to provide information about the status of school psychology in your country.

40. Indicate the name(s) of the professional association(s) devoted exclusively to advancing and promoting school psychology and the number of its (or their) members:

	Members
First	
Second	
Third	

- 41. Indicate the name(s) of the school psychology association(s) that sponsor one or more professional journals (and include the name of the journal the association sponsors) that appear at least quarterly and provide for peer reviews:
- 42. Indicate the name(s) of the other national professional association(s) that serve the interests of school psychologists and the number of their members:

First	Name of professional associa Members	tion/# of	
			_
Second	-		_
Third			_
designated spe more professior association spo	name of professional associatio cifically for school psychology, th nal journals (and include the nam nsors) that appear at least quart nd serve the interests of school p	at sponsor or ne of the journ erly, provide f	ne or al the or
44. Does the pr as a psychologi O Yes O No	actice of psychology require a pe <u>st</u> ?	erson to be lic	ensed
bachelor's degressed bachelor's degressed bachelor's degressed doctoral degressed passing a nation membership in association	cate all required to be licensed: ree in most any field ree in psychology: 3 years ree in psychology: 4 years ree: 5 years re in psychology re in psychology an internship real competency exam rea national professional rements, not listed above:	O Yes	O No
46. Does the practicensed as a school psychology Yes O No	actice of school psychology requi	re a person to	be

46a. Please indicate all required to be licensed:

bachelor's degree in most any field bachelor's degree in psychology: 3 years bachelor's degree in psychology: 4 years bachelor's degree: 5 years master's degree in psychology doctoral degree in psychology an internship passing a national competency exam membership in a national professional association 46b. Other requirements, not listed above:	YesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes	O No
47. Are nationally approved professional stanfollowing areas? university professional preparation programs for selecting students university professional preparation programs that specify course or program content school-based assessment services school-based intervention services ethical behaviors requirements for school psychological services 47a. Other nationally approved professional sabove:	YesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes	NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo
48. In your judgment, what conditions influence most strongly during the past 10 years in your		hology
49. In your judgment, what conditions are like psychology most strongly during the next 10 y	•	
50. To what extent are school psychology pra sound psychological research from your coun O little O somewhat O a lot		ı
51. Please check the major sources of financifor research (check all that apply):	ial support avail	able

 personal funds school districts or municipal government national, federal, central, or provincial education authorities other national, federal, central, or provincial authorities universities public research institutions private research institutions international sources (please specify) other (please specify) 				
52. In your judgment, what are the major research needs of school psychology in your country?				
IV. Programs, Professional Preparation: Characteristics of Students, Faculty, and Institutions.				
Knowledge of the characteristics of programs, students, faculty, and institutions will assist us in better understanding professional development.				
53. How many school psychology professional preparation programs are there at the following levels? bachelor's: 3 year bachelor's: 4 year bachelor's + 1 year for a professional credential master's specialist's doctoral				
54. What percentage of these programs exist in: public universities				
Total Percentage 100%				
54a. If other, please specify:				
55. What percent of these universities offer two or more professional psychology preparation programs (e.g., clinical, counseling, industrial/organizational, and other applied specialties)? %				
				

programs are there likely to be in 10 years bachelor's: 3 year bachelor's: 4 year bachelor's + 1 year for a professional comaster's specialist's doctoral	at eac	h leve	el?
57. Are school psychology professional proreviewed or accredited by:	eparati	-	
professional associations in	O		iewed ONo
psychology professional associations in education national, federal, or central		Yes Yes	
government state or provincial government local or municipal government		Yes Yes	ONo ONo
58. How many school psychology program	ns are a	accred	lited?
59. Do you believe the status of school psychologimproved if ISPA accredited school psychologicountry and others? O Yes O No	•		
59a. Why do you believe the status of school be improved if ISPA accredited school psy your country and others?			
60. What percent of school psychology proinstitutions that are of: higher prestige average prestige lower prestige	ograms	are o	ffered in
61. Please estimate the number of school enrolled at each level, the percent taking a number of years on the average students to programs, and whether the numbers of students.	full loatake to	ad of o	courses, the lete their

remaining steady, o	or declining: Number of students enrolled	% enrolled full-time	Average length of their programs
bachelor's: 3 year bachelor's: 4 year bachelor's+1 year for professional credential master's specialist's doctoral			in years
Status of the numb	ers of students	o increas O steady O declin	У
bachelor's: 3 year bachelor's: 4 year bachelor's+1 year for professional cred master's specialist's doctoral	lential		- - -
62. Estimate the perundergraduate majeducation psychology (include other behavioral sciences physical sciences humanities fine arts	or in: ing school psyd iiences		% ho have an % % % % % % % % %

63. Compared to students in clinical psychology preparation

programs:			
are the intellectual abilities of school psychology students generally	Osomewhat lower Oabout the same O somewhat above		
is the academic preparation of school psychology students generally	Osomewhat lower Oabout the same O somewhat above		
is the professional commitment of school psychology students generally	Osomewhat lower Oabout the same O somewhat above		
64. Please indicate the extent of infl selecting students for school psychological psychological for the extent of influence and the extent of		J	
prior experiences as a teacher			f influence Omoderate
prior experiences as a psychologist		•	Omoderate
prior experiences with children		-	Omoderate
other prior professional experiences	6	•	Omoderate
nature of one's bachelor's degree		•	Omoderate
secondary school or undergraduate average	grade point	-	Omoderate
academic aptitude test scores		•	Omoderate
letters of reference from university f	aculty	•	Omoderate
letters of reference from practicing psychologists	orofessional	•	Omoderate
letters of reference from personal fr	iends	Ominor Omajor	Omoderate
individual interviews with faculty		•	Omoderate
personal financial resources		-	Omoderate

family background

Omajor Ominor Omoderate

			Omajor	
gender			Ominor	Omoderate
/			Omajor	O man alla mata
race/ethnicity			Ominor Omajor	Omoderate
religion			_	Omoderate
rongion			Omajor	Jillodorato
social class			•	Omoderate
			Omajor	
the region in w	which the applica	ant lives		Omoderate
other			Omajor	Omoderate
otriei			Omajor	Omoderate
			Thajoi	
64a. If other, p	lease specify:			
•			ents receive finance	
assistance and	% who	amount of	y average yearly? number of	
	receive	assistance		
	financial	received	receive	
	assistance	annually	assistance	
	from			
	universities			
	or			
undergraduate	government %			
undergraduate	——/ _%			
+ 1 year for			_	
credential			-	
master's	%			
specialist's	%			
doctoral	%			
	% of			
stuc	dents work outsid	de	% of students	work
	the program		outside the pro	ogram
	1-10 hours		11-20 hours	
undergraduate	е	%	%	
undergraduate		——%	 %	
credential	-	%	%	
master's		%	%	

specialist's doctoral		%	%
% of students wo outside the progr 21-30 hours			
undergraduate undergraduate + 1 year for credential master's specialist's doctoral	% % % %		
level, what perce following activities	ent of the time es and respons	reparation <u>at the under</u> do students typicall sibilities? Do not and s somewhat exclusi	y devote to the swer this item if vely at the
		Percent of	
social, d	, personality, levelopmental,		
statistics taking professio (e.g., the related t	nal courses ose directly		
	tion as service	%	
provider	rs)		
class-related wo		%	
	s, teachers,		
parents, other supervised commur		%	
internsh their pre program	ip at the end o paration		
other			
Total percentage	Э	100%	

67. During their professional preparation at the graduate level, what percent of the time do students typically devote to the following activities and responsibilities? Do not answer this item if professional preparation occurs somewhat exclusively at the undergraduate level.

anas g. sasas so son	Percent of Time
taking academic courses (e.g.,	%
learning, personality,	
social, developmental,	0/
statistics)	%
taking professional courses	
(e.g., those directly	
related to their	
preparation as service	%
providers)	
class-related work with	%
students, teachers,	
parents, etc.	
other supervised work in the	
community (e.g., an	%
internship at the end of	
their preparation	
program)	
other	
	100%
Total percentage	100%

Professional preparation of school psychologists may be understood by knowing the papers or courses students typically are required to take as well as the topics that may be emphasized throughout coursework. Questions ask first about required classes and then about broader topics.

68. Please identify the papers or courses students typically take during their school psychology program or required to take before beginning the program (check all that apply):

*	Discipline Based
	biological psychology
	developmental psychology
	experimental psychology
	learning or cognition
	motivation
	social psychology
*	Assessment
	academic achievement assessment

□ behavior assessment
☐ intellectual assessment
mental health assessment
neuropsychological assessment
personality assessment
□ social assessment
□ vocational assessment
☐ introduction to measurement
□ advanced psychometric theory
♦ Research and Evaluation
□ basic statistics
□ advanced statistics (e.g. through simple regression &
MANOVA)
☐ factor analysis
structural equation modeling
□ program evaluation□ qualitative analysis
☐ research methodology and design
☐ research practicum
◆ Interventions
□ academic interventions
□ behavior interventions
□ consultation
□ counseling
☐ learning strategies/styles interventions
□ psychoeducational interventions
□ primary prevention strategies
□ social-emotional interventions
❖ Professional Foundations
□ history of psychology or school psychology
□ legal issues
□ ethical issues
professional issues
Other courses not listed above:
□ course 1:
□ course 2:
□ course 3:

Issues Commonly Emphasized in Two or More of the Courses or Papers within School Psychology Programs

Some issues are sufficiently broad and important to be emphasized in various courses throughout the program. Indicate the frequency the following topics are likely to be emphasized throughout their

professional preparation program.

69. General Issues: achievement/academic development	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
attitude and value formation	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
consultation techniques	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
counseling and guidance techniques	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
data collection techniques	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
effects of coaching and practice on test performance	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
ethical issues	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
group dynamics	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
human growth and development	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
information about job requirements	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
intelligence/intellectual development	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
language development	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
legal issues	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
motivation	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
organizational morale	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
organizational structure	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
personality	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
perception	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
performance evaluation	Orarely Ooften	Osometimes
physiology and anatomy learning	Orarely	Osometimes

	Ooften	
psychopathology	Orarely	O sometimes
	Ooften	
vocational	Orarely	O sometimes
	Ooften	
other	Orarely	O sometimes
	Ooften	

69a. If other, please specify:

70. Issues More Specific to Tests and Statistics:		
basic statistical concepts (e.g., means,	Orarely	Osometimes
standard deviations)	Ooften	
advanced statistical concepts (e.g.,	Orarely	O sometimes
regression & multi-factorial)	Ooften	
factors affecting quality of criterion	Orarely	O sometimes
measures	Ooften	
factors that influence test performance	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
item analysis procedures	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
principles and standards of test	Orarely	Osometimes
construction	Ooften	
research and experimental design	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
reliability concepts	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
standardized procedures for administering	Orarely	Osometimes
tests	Ooften	
strengths and limitations of assessment	Orarely	Osometimes
procedures	Ooften	
types of test scores and norms	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
test fairness concepts	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
test utility concepts	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
validity concepts	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	
other	Orarely	Osometimes
	Ooften	

70a. If other, please specify:

71. Professional preparation often comemphasize either theory or practice. Downard extent do programs emphasize	
Theory% Practical preparation%	
72. Upon completing their degrees, to psychologists continue their profession	
taking additional university courses	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
conducting and publishing research	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
reading professional journals and books	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
attending brief (e.g., 1/2 to 1 day) workshops	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
attending longer (> 1 day) workshops	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
traveling to other institutions to observe their practices	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
attending local/regional conventions	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
attending national conventions	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
attending international conventions	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
other, not listed above	Onone Ofew Osome Omany Omost
72. If other, please specify:	

Answers to the following questions enable us to better understand the faculty characteristics.

73. In your judgment, what percent of the program faculty are likely

to:

	have a master's degree	%
	have a doctoral degree	%
	be employed full-time within the school	
	psychology programs	
	publish either books or articles in respected	%
	referred journals yearly	
	be actively engaged in research	%
	be considered one of the leading scholars in	
	psychology in your country	
	be considered one of the leading scholars in	%
	psychology internationally	
	consult with school systems two or more days	
	each month	
	consult with the local, regional, or national	%
	education agency two or more days each	
	month	%
	hold an elected position in a national	/0
	professional association	%
	•	/0
	have a private practice (e.g., counseling,	
	therapy, assessment)	
	74. What is the number of university faculty who wo school psychology programs?	rk full time in
,	75. In some locations, university faculty may not be	assigned full
	time to a school psychology program and instead m	ay work part
	time in it and have additional teaching or administra	tive duties.
,	What is the number of university faculty who work p	art time in
;	school psychology programs?	
-		
,	76. Given a program with three full time faculty in so	chool
	psychology:	
Plea	ase estimate the number of full time graduate stude	nts a program is
	ly to accept yearly:	. •
	· · · · · 	

as insurance, retirement, etc	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	inge benefits	ssucn	
number of years as a university professor	annual salary			
0-4	kindly use conjugation 7	urrency you	noted in	
5-10	•	urrency you	noted in	
11-15	•	urrency you	noted in	
16-20	kindly use conguestion 7	urrency you	noted in	
> 20	•	urrency you	noted in	
78. What percent of the faculthe program: full time% 1/2 time% 1/4 time% 79. If a professor were apportant many hours weekly would he responsibilities?	inted full-time to the p	orogram, hov		
(please round to the nea	rest hour)	_		
80. What percent of full time of the university for which th	,	•	ıtside	
81. We also are interested in known programs, staff, and learning readequacy of the support service very adequation secretarial support teaching assistants (to help grapers and to supervise programs).	sources. In your judg es generally available te adequate inade Orade Oractica)	ment, indicat for the facul	ty: ailable O	0
research assistants telephone services mail privileges computers	O O O)))	0 0	0000

photocopy services	•	\mathbf{O}	\mathbf{O}	\mathbf{O}
SPSS and other data analysis	\mathbf{O}	•	\mathbf{O}	0
methods	\mathbf{O}	•	\mathbf{O}	0
Help analyzing data	O	\mathbf{O}	•	O
Current library resources (e.g., current journals and books professional tests and other materials)	0	•	•	O
money for convention travel money for research support other, not listed above))	O O	0	O O

81a. If other, please specify:

- 82. How can the International School Psychology Association (ISPA) best contribute to the specialty of school psychology in your country and internationally?

 83. What are the most important issues ISPA should address?

APPENDIX B

Values of Ratio of School Psychologists to Students and Economic

Variables

Country	Approximate Ratio	GDP (\$)	Percent Spending on Education (% GDP)
Austria	8,000	41,700	5.5
Belgium	1,200	37,600	6.4
Belize	95,826	8,300	5.7
Brazil	4,328	11,600	5.4
Canada	1,335	40,300	4.8
Canary Islands	700	30,600	4.6
Columbia	1,117	10,100	3.9
Croatia	800	18,300	4.3
Cyprus	4,300	29,100	7.4
Czech Republic	4,370	25,900	4.1
Denmark	769	40,200	7.7
England*	2,882	35,900	5.4
Estonia	800	20,200	5.7
Finland	1,500	38,300	6.1
France	2,783	35,000	5.6
Germany	10,000	37,900	4.6
Greece	3,043	27,600	4.0
Grenada	300	13,300	4.9
Hong Kong	10,000	49,300	3.3
Hungary	2,950	19,600	5.1
Iceland	1,000	38,000	7.5
India	281,965	3,700	3.1

^{*}GDP and Percent Spending on Education estimates from the United Kingdom were used.

Values of Ratio of School Psychologists to Students and Economic

Variables

Continued

Country	Approximate Ratio	GDP (\$)	Percent Spending on Education (% GDP)
			,
Indonesia	26,758	4,700	2.8
Ireland	5,300	39,500	5.7
Jamaica	400,000	9,000	6.2
Lebanon	730,214	15,600	2.0
Lithuania	1,000	18,700	4.9
Malta	5,018	25,700	5.8
Netherlands	1,500	42,300	5.5
New Zealand	3,511	27,900	5.6
Norway	2,201	53,300	6.4
Pakistan	1,215,435	2,800	2.9
Romania	1,135	12,300	4.3
Scotland*	1,378	35,900	5.4
Seychelles	15,372	24,700	5.0
Slovak Republic	3,637	23,400	3.6
South Africa	40,000	11,000	5.1
Switzerland	1,213	43,400	5.4
Turkey	835	14,600	2.9
United States	1,500	48,100	5.5
Venezuela	13,015	12,400	3.7
Vietnam	43,828	3,300	5.3
Zimbabwe	114,312	500	2.5

^{*}GDP and Percent Spending on Education estimates from the United Kingdom were used.

APPENDIX C

Values of Level of Degree Offered, Public Support for Education, and

Status of School Psychologists

Country	Level of	Public Support	Status of School
	Degree	for Education*	Psychologists*
Austria	None	2.00	2.00
Belgium	Bachelor	1.00	2.00
Belize	None	1.00	
Brazil	Doctoral	3.00	3.00
Canada	Doctoral	2.00	2.00
Canary Islands	Bachelor	2.00	1.00
Columbia	None		1.00
Croatia	Doctoral	2.00	1.00
Cyprus	Doctoral	1.00	1.00
Czech Republic	Master	1.00	1.00
Denmark	Master	2.00	2.00
England	Doctoral	3.00	1.00
Estonia	Master	2.00	3.00
Finland	None	2.00	1.00
France	Bachelor	2.00	2.00
Germany	Master	2.00	2.00
Greece	Doctoral	2.00	1.00
Grenada	Bachelor	1.00	2.00
Hong Kong	Doctoral	1.00	1.00
Hungary	Master	2.00	
Iceland	None	1.00	2.00
India	None		3.00

^{*}Values Rounded; 1=Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often (Lack of Support/Low Status)

Values of Level of Degree Offered, Public Support for Education, and Status of School Psychologists

Continued

Country	Level of	Public Support	Status of School
	Degree	for Education	Psychologists
T 1 :	N		
Indonesia	None		
Ireland	Master	1.00	1.00
Jamaica	None	1.00	1.00
Lebanon	Master	1.00	1.00
Lithuania	Master		2.00
Malta	Master	2.00	1.00
Netherlands	None	2.00	2.00
New Zealand	Doctoral	2.00	1.00
Norway	Master	2.00	1.00
Pakistan	None	3.00	
Romania	Doctoral		2.00
Scotland	Doctoral	1.00	1.00
Seychelles	None	1.00	2.00
Slovak Republic	Doctoral		
South Africa	Doctoral	2.00	2.00
Switzerland	Master	2.00	1.00
Turkey	None	2.00	2.00
United States	Doctoral	1.00	2.00
Venezuela	Bachelor	3.00	2.00
Vietnam	Master	2.00	3.00
Zimbabwe	Master	3.00	1.00

^{*}Values Rounded; 1=Never; 2=Sometimes; 3=Often (Lack of Support/Low Status)